
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Page 1 of 3

Cabinet Meeting
10 September 2014

Time 5.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Executive

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Roger Lawrence (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Peter Bilson (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr Elias Mattu
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Quorum for this meeting is five Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic support team:

Contact Dereck Francis
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555835 or dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Support, Civic Centre, 2nd floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk
Email democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555043

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Page 2 of 3

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (23 July 2014) (Pages 1 - 10)
[For approval]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting]

DECISION ITEMS (RED - for decision by the Council)

5 Adoption of the Stafford Road Corridor and Bilston Corridor Area Action 
Plans (Pages 11 - 16)
[To recommend that Council adopts the area action plans]

6 Tettenhall and Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plans (Pages 17 - 22)
[To recommend that the plans are ‘made’ by Council]

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - delegated to the Cabinet)

7 Reduction of Play Service Provision (Pages 23 - 32)
[To consult on proposals for a reduction in the current play service provision]

8 Better Care Fund Programme Update 
[To approve arrangements for the submission of the Better Care Fund Programme 
Plan][TO FOLLOW]

9 First Impressions of the City Scrutiny Review (Pages 33 - 86)
[To consider the recommendations from the scrutiny review group and the 
Cabinet’s response thereto]
[NOTE – The Chair of the scrutiny review group has been invited]

10 Outcome of Called-in Item (Pages 87 - 90)
[To note the decision of the Scrutiny Board]

11 Exclusion of press and public 
[To pass the following resolution:

That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information on the grounds shown 
below]



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Page 3 of 3

Part 2 – exempt items, closed to the public and press

Item No. Title Grounds for Exemption

12 Proposals Regarding Children's Residential and 
Fostering Provision (Pages 91 - 100)
[To approve proposals to remodel the existing Looked 
After Children service in order to improve outcomes for 
children and young people in care]

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  Para (3)

13 Bushbury Hill Estate Management Board Right to 
Transfer Proposal (Pages 101 - 158)
[To approve the draft formal consultation document for 
tenants affected by the proposal and the appointment 
of an independent body to conduct the confidential 
ballot if required]

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  Para (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 1 of 10

Meeting of the Cabinet
Minutes - 23 July 2014

Attendance

Members of the Cabinet

Cllr Roger Lawrence (Chair)
Cllr Peter Bilson (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr Elias Mattu
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Employees
Dereck Francis Democratic Support Officer
Keith Ireland Strategic Director, Delivery
Tony Ivko Assistant Director - Older People and Personalisation
Tim Johnson Strategic Director, Education and Enterprise
Kevin O'Keefe Chief Legal Officer
Mark Taylor Assistant Director, Finance

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr John Reynolds.

2 Declaration of interests
No declarations of interests were made. 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (25 June 2014)
Resolved:

That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 June 2014 be approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

Page 1



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 2 of 10

DECISION ITEMS (RED - for decision by the Council)

5 Treasury Management - Annual Report 2013/14 and Activity Monitoring Quarter 
One 2014/15
Cllr Andrew Johnson presented the report on the results of treasury management 
activities carried out in 2013/14, together with performance against the prudential 
indicators previously approved by Council. The report also provided monitoring and 
progress information on treasury management activity for the first quarter of 2014/15, 
in line with the prudential indicators approved by Council in March 2014.

Cllr Johnson placed on record his thanks to the Council’s Treasury Management 
team whose activities contribute to the Council finances.

Resolved:
That Full Council be recommended to:
1. Delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for Resources in consultation 

with the Assistant Director Finance to amend the Treasury Management 
Strategy to take advantage of opportunities to increase investment 
returns.

2. Note the contents of the report, and particularly that:
a. The Council operated within the approved Prudential and Treasury 

Management Indicators, and also within the requirements set out in the 
Council's approved Treasury Management Policy Statement during 
2013/14.

b. The Council is forecast to marginally exceed the self-determined upper 
limit on debt maturing within one year for part of 2014/15. This is as a 
result of taking advantage of the low interest rates available for short 
term borrowing. This position would be rectified by the end of the year.

c. Revenue savings of £10.7 million for the General Fund and £2.4 million 
for the Housing Revenue Account were generated from treasury 
management activities in 2013/14.

d. Revenue savings of £214,000 for the General Fund and £5.9 million for 
the Housing Revenue Account are forecast from treasury management 
activities in 2014/15.

6 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan Update Quarter One 2014/15
Cllr Peter Bilson presented a report on an updated HRA business plan for approval 
by full Council.  In moving the recommendations contained in the report Cllr Bilson 
made a correction by substituting the figure ‘£18.5 million’ for the first figure of ‘£11.9 
million’ referred to in recommendation 3 and to an equivalent adjustment to the 
figures referred to in paragraph 2.6 of the report. 

He also commended the Council’s Treasury Management team for the effective job 
they have delivered on the Council’s behalf.  Their efforts had meant that the Council 
borrowed less than anticipated and paid down some of the debt on the revenue 
account, putting the Council in a better position. 

Page 2



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 3 of 10

Resolved:
That full Council be recommended to:
1. Adopt the business plan set out at appendix A to the report as the 

approved Housing Revenue Account business plan, including the capital 
programme for 2014/15 to 2018/19 set out in the plan.

2. Note the outturn against the 2013/14 revenue budget was a surplus before 
allocations of £14.5 million compared to a budgeted surplus of £10.6 
million, and total capital expenditure for the year was £43.1 million.

3. Note the forecast outturn against the 2014/15 revenue budget is a surplus 
before allocations of £18.5 million compared to a budgeted surplus of 
£11.9 million.

7 Black Country Growth Hub: Grants to Third Parties
Cllr Peter Bilson sought approval to increase previously approved grants to the 
University of Wolverhampton and the Black Country Consortium to manage the 
Regional Growth Fund funded Black Country Growth Hub.

Resolved:
That full Council be recommended to:
1. Approve an increase of a grant from £130,000 to £325,000 to the 

University of Wolverhampton, a third party provider for the management of 
the externally funded Black Country Growth Hub for them to act as 
employer for the Growth Hub team.

2. Approve the payment of a grant of £73,806 to the Black Country 
Consortium to fund an Access to Finance Project Manager and contribute 
towards one day a week of an Economic Development Co-ordinator and 
Administration and Finance Support together with recruitment costs for the 
Access to Finance Project Manager as part of the externally funded Black 
Country Growth.

3. Authorise the Chief Legal Officer to approve the execution of the 
contracts.

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - delegated to the Cabinet)

8 Reserves, Provisions and Balances 2013/14
Cllr Andrew Johnson presented the report which detailed the resources currently 
held as specific reserves, provisions and general balances by the Council as at 31 
March 2014, taking account of the outturn position for 2013/14. 

He informed Cabinet that the General Fund balance as at year end was £27 million. 
Looking forward, £10 million of this would be used during 2014/15 and £5 million 
would be used for redundancy costs leaving approximately £12 million.  This would 
be above the minimum General Fund Balance of £10 million that the Council had set 
itself.

Page 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 4 of 10

Resolved:
1. That the transfers to/(from) specific reserves, provisions and general balances 

as detailed in tables 1, 2 and 3 to the report be approved. 

2. That expenditure from provisions for their purposes as set out in Appendix B 
to the report, up to the value held in each provision as at 31 March 2014 be 
approved.

3. That the continuation of the delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for 
Resources, in consultation with the Assistant Director Finance, to allocate 
funds from the Budget Contingency Reserve, the Professional Support and 
Advice Reserve, the Regeneration Reserve, the Southside Reserve 
(previously termed the City Centre Reserve) and the Efficiency Reserve 
during 2014/15 be approved.

4. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Resources, in 
consultation with the Assistant Director Finance, to allocate funds from the 
Looked After Children Transformation Reserve and the Transformation 
Reserve during 2014/15.

5. That the level of the Council’s specific reserves, provisions and general 
balances as at 31 March 2014 and the purposes for which they are being 
held, as detailed in Appendix A to the report be noted. 

6. That it be noted that the relevance and adequacy of specific reserves and 
general balances would be reviewed as required by the Constitution during 
the 2015/16 budget setting process.

7. That it be noted that the allocation of funding from the Budget Contingency 
Reserve, the Professional Support and Advice Reserve, the Regeneration 
Reserve, the Southside Reserve, the Efficiency Reserve, the Looked After 
Children Reserve and the Transformation Reserves, would  be reported to 
Cabinet (Resources) Panel in the scheduled quarterly budget monitoring 
reports. 

8. That it be noted that the Confident, Capable Council Scrutiny Panel would 
scrutinise the use of reserves as part of the budget setting process as in 
previous years.

9. That it be noted that the Assistant Director Finance considers that the overall 
level of all reserves, provisions and balances is sufficient to meet the likely 
level of obligations to be met from reserves, provisions and general balances 
in the short term. Work continues to identify budget savings to address the 
projected budget deficit faced by the council over the medium term. 

9 Revenue Budget Outturn 2013/14
Cllr Andrew Johnson presented the report on the Council’s revenue outturn position 
for 2013/14 compared with approved budgets and targets. He placed on record his 
thanks and congratulations to the Council’s employees for responding to the 
Cabinet’s decision to freeze all non-essential expenditure in the last quarter of the 
2013/14 financial year. This one off initiative had meant that the projected net 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 5 of 10

overspend against the General Fund could be reduced from £5 million to £2.3 million 
and that redundancy payments during the year had been increased from £2 million to 
£4.6 million.  There was now an overall improved position of £7.3 million on the 
Council’s reserves which was welcomed news and better than could have been 
hoped had Cabinet not taken the decision to freeze all non-essential expenditure. 

Resolved: 
1. That the revenue outturn position for 2013/14 for the General Fund, which is a 

net overspend of £2.3 million after taking account of redundancy costs 
amounting to £4.6 million be noted.

2. That it be noted that this outturn position takes into account a number of 
proposed transfers to and from reserves and provisions, for which approval is 
sought in the Reserves, Provisions and Balances 2013/14 report to be 
presented at this meeting.

3. That it be noted that the outturn against the Collection Fund for 2013/14 is a 
£1.3 million surplus.

4. That it be noted that schools’ balances reduced by £1.4 million during 
2013/14.

10 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2015/16 Onwards
Cllr Andrew Johnson sought approval to consult on changes to the Council’s local 
scheme for council tax support.  He reported that if implemented, the proposal would 
mean that for a Band A property the increase would be less than £2 per week.  He 
also informed Cabinet that the Council’s approach to the introduction of a local 
council tax reduction scheme differed from some council’s.  The Council had 
determined not to pass on in one instalment the cut in Government grant funding for 
the scheme but to phase it in over time.  It was felt that this was a more equitable 
approach that gave residents time to plan for the increase and would mean that the 
impact on the poorest families was staged and more manageable. 

Resolved:
1. That the publication of a draft scheme in respect of working age claimants for 

consultation containing the following revisions be approved:
a. The basis on which support is calculated is revised from 88% to 78% of 

gross council tax liability.
b. Within the draft scheme, households with the following characteristics 

would be protected and would continue to have their entitlement 
calculated on 88% of gross liability.
 where the claimant or their partner is severely disabled
 where there is a severely disabled child
 a single person under 25 years of age without dependents.

2 That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Resources, in 
consultation with the Head of Revenues and Benefits, to approve the 
documents to be issued for public consultation.

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 6 of 10

3 That the options for revisions to the local council tax support scheme for 
working age claimants that are needed in order to further offset the cut in 
government grant for funding the scheme be noted.

4. That it be noted that following the outcome of public consultation a further 
report would be submitted to Cabinet on 10 December 2014 to enable a final 
scheme to be recommended to Council on 28 January 2015.

11 2014 Housing Allocations Policy Review Part 1
Cllr Peter Bilson presented a report on proposed modest changes to the Council’s 
housing allocations policy which was last reviewed 15 months ago.  The changes 
incorporated new legislation and best practice relating to Welfare Reform, the 
Localism Act 2011 and making best use of stock.

Resolved: 
1. That changes to the allocations policy in response to local housing need, 

making best use of stock and best practice relating to Welfare Reform and the 
Localism Act 2011 be approved to:
 Relax the of policy regarding allocation of three bedroom houses
 Change the residency qualification to two years
 Ensure that single parents are not required to share a bedroom with 

children
 Withhold or refuse a successful bidder on exceptional circumstances

2. That it be noted that consultation on further proposed amendments to the 
allocations policy is under way and that a further report would be brought to 
Cabinet in September 2014.

12 Scrutiny Review of Private Rented Sector Housing
The Cabinet received a report on the findings and recommendations of the scrutiny 
review of Private Rented Sector Housing and the executive response to the report.

Cllr Wendy Thompson, Chair of the scrutiny review group was in attendance for this 
item.  She briefly highlighted some of the areas that the review had focused on and 
some of its recommendations, including the use of the Selective Licensing Scheme 
and action to tackle landlords providing poor quality private sector housing.  She also 
reported that the Private Sector Housing team was small in number but were working 
well, however funding for the team was of concern. In concluding she commended 
the review group’s recommendations to Cabinet

Councillor Peter Bilson thanked Cllr Wendy Thompson and the review group for its 
work.  He reported that Cabinet supported the recommendations in the main and 
referred to the detailed executive action plan attached to the report. 

Resolved:
1. That the report of the Private Rented Sector Housing Scrutiny Review Group 

be received and the following recommendations from the review be noted:
R1 (a) That Cabinet approve in principle the draft ‘Rent with Confidence’ 

(RwC) campaign (appendix 1 to the review report) as a positive 
way forward to encourage a more professional private rented 
sector and allow potential tenants to exercise choice when 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 7 of 10

selecting property and a reliable landlord or agent and ask 
employees to consult in greater detail.

(b) That consideration is given to the future resources required to 
move forward with the ‘Rent with Confidence’ (RwC) campaign 
and agree the need to implement RwC when resources become 
available for effective enforcement to help drive improvement in 
PRS housing in the city.

R2 That a review of the current PRS enforcement policy is carried out with 
the aspiration to strengthen the processes, make them fairer across the 
range of landlords, to improve the quality of accommodation in the city, 
to promote processes and to identify where resources need to be re-
aligned or strengthened.

R3 That Cabinet approves Additional Licensing as a mechanism to licence 
and regulate Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) locally and across 
the city as an alternative and more cost effective way of addressing 
problems with HMOs.

R4 That Cabinet gives consideration to tackling problems associated with 
poor housing standards and overcrowding in inner areas of the City, 
and to consider the use of Selective Licensing, such as the All Saints 
Selective Licensing scheme, in other priority areas as identified by the 
Police and the Housing Standards Team.  

R5 That Cabinet recommend to the Local Government Association that 
there is a need to regulate letting agencies and to highlight the need to 
the Housing Minister, Shadow Housing Minister and Parliamentary 
Select Committee.

R6 That Cabinet note that a response has been submitted to the 
parliamentary consultation paper relating to property standards in the 
PRS and the need to consider a reformed approach, taking into account 
the evidence and findings of this review with regard.

R7 That a Councillor Working Group is established to monitor and review 
all housing matters, which would give a holistic view of Housing and an 
early indication of pressures in the City.

R8 That a review of the current Private Sector Leasing (PSL) Scheme is 
carried out in light of rising demand for PRS housing in the City and 
consider financial incentives, such as Homes and Communities Agency 
funding, for encouraging landlords with empty properties to join the 
scheme.

R9 That Cabinet and Welfare Reform Programme Board agree that the 
Council and Wolverhampton Homes should work together with 
landlords to keep people in their homes during the introduction of 
Universal Credit.

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 8 of 10

R10 That Cabinet note that DCLG funding for the Housing Options 
Homelessness Prevention Team ends March 2015 and give 
consideration of funding options for a five year period to embed 
changes to benefits.

R11 That Cabinet give consideration to other funding sources to improve 
PRS Housing in Wolverhampton in relation to the impact of poor 
housing on children, educational attainment and anti-social behaviour, 
and that Cabinet further consider the wider impact that not meeting 
decent home standards has on the most vulnerable residents, mental 
and environmental health issues, overcrowding, the impact on 
communities and the financial burden of these implications on the 
Council.

R12 That Cabinet note that displacement of homeless people was raised as 
a concern by the Review Group. More evidence is needed to establish 
the number of cases and the impact on the City more statistical 
evidence and data.

2. That the executive response to the review recommendations be approved.

3. That the Cabinet response be referred to Scrutiny Board to monitor the 
implementation of actions arising as a result of the recommendations.

13 Refreshed Joint Dementia Strategy and Implementation Plan 2014-2016
Cllr Steve Evans submitted for approval a refreshed ‘joint dementia strategy and 
implementation plan 2014-2016’.  The strategy and implementation plan incorporated 
and aimed to go beyond a Government challenge of ensuring that diagnosis, 
treatment and care of people with dementia in England should be among the best in 
Europe.  Cllr Evans anticipated that in March 2015 when the Council was assessed it 
would have reached that milestone.  He placed on record his thanks to employees 
Steve Brotherton (Head of Older People Commissioning Group) and Santosh Kumari 
(Commissioning Officer, Older People) who had led the way regarding development 
to dementia services for Wolverhampton.  He also highlighted some of the actions 
that had been completed from the current strategy.

Resolved:
That the refreshed Joint Dementia Strategy and Implementation Plan 2014 -
2016 be approved.

14 Residential Short Breaks Service for Disabled Children and Young People
Cllr Val Gibson presented the report on a proposed revised short breaks service for 
disabled children, developed following further involvement of families of disabled 
children.  The report also described the work undertaken to test the capacity and 
competency of the external market to deliver the new more flexible and responsive 
service.

Resolved: 
1. That the decommissioning of short breaks services for disabled children at 

Windmill Lane and Stowheath House and the commissioning of a six bed 
short breaks residential unit, with outreach and domiciliary care be approved. 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 9 of 10

2. That it be noted that this service model takes into account the outcome of 
further consultation with families, an analysis of the social care market’s 
capacity to deliver the new model, and is the most cost effective option being 
deliverable within the available resources of £863,000.

15 West Midlands Employers Organisation
Cllr Roger Lawrence proposed a revision to the Council’s representative on the West 
Midlands Employers organisation (formerly the West Midlands Leaders Board). 

Resolved:
That Cllr Paul Sweet replace Cllr Roger Lawrence as the Council’s 
representative on the West Midlands Employers organisation (formerly West 
Midlands Leaders Board) for the remainder of the Municipal Year 2014/15.

16 Exclusion of public and press
Resolved:

That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling 
within the paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act set out below:

Item No. Title Applicable 
paragraph

17. Southside Delivery Strategy 3

Part 2 - exempt items, closed to press and public
17 Southside Delivery Strategy

Cllr Peter Bilson presented an update report on progress with the Southside 
Intervention Plan and on a proposed delivery strategy for taking forward the 
regeneration of Southside.

With reference to the proposed arrangements to meet the revenue resources for 
taking forward the delivery strategy, it was proposed that the Cabinet Member for 
Resources and the Assistant Director, Finance be included in the recommended 
delegation to the Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration and Prosperity as 
referred to in the report.  

Resolved
1. That the proposed strategy for taking forward the regeneration of Southside 

and the associated timeline be endorsed.

2. That the reallocation of capital resources set aside for strategic acquisitions 
within Southside to support the proposed forward strategy and the Capital 
Programme be supported.

3. That the release of unallocated funds from the Southside budget to the Re-
allocation of Resources for Regeneration Priorities budget be approved.

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 10 of 10

4. That authority be delegate to the Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration 
and Prosperity and the Cabinet Member for Resources in consultation with the 
Strategic Director for Education and Enterprise and the Assistant Director 
Finance to approve the funding for the proposed demolition works and the 
allocation of revenue costs subject to the identification of the funding through 
the review of the revenue resources.

5. That the progress made with the Southside intervention plan be noted.

Page 10



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 1 of 5

Agenda Item No:  5

Cabinet Meeting
10 September 2014

Report title Adoption of the Stafford Road Corridor and 
Bilston Corridor Area Action Plans

Decision designation RED
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Peter Bilson
Economic Regeneration and Prosperity

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Tim Johnson, Education and Enterprise

Originating service Planning

Accountable employee(s) Tom Podd
Tel
Email

Planning Officer
01902 555638
tom.podd@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Cabinet

Full Council 

22 May 2013
24 July 2013
23 April 2014
25 June 2014
6 November 2013

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

Request that the Stafford Road Corridor Area Action Plan and the Bilston Corridor Area 
Action Plan are adopted by Council on 17 September 2014.

Page 11



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 2 of 5

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To update Cabinet on progress made with the production of the Stafford Road Corridor 
Area Action Plan and the Bilston Corridor  Area Action Plan (the AAPs) and to 
recommend that Council formally adopts the AAPs to be used for determining planning 
applications in the Stafford Road and Bilston Corridor areas.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Stafford Road Corridor AAP and the Bilston Corridor AAP were approved for 
publication by Cabinet and subject to six weeks public consultation during summer 2013.  
The AAPs will form part of the adopted Local Plan for Wolverhampton and will be used to 
determine planning applications in the AAP areas.  The publication stage was the final 
opportunity for comments to be made on the soundness of the AAPs before submission 
to the Secretary of State for independent examination.  The Council approved 
submission of the publication AAPs, including minor modifications recommended 
following consultation, in November 2013.

2.2 During the examination the Inspector required the Council to consult on a number of 
main modifications.   These modifications were approved for consultation by Cabinet in 
April 2014.

2.3 Following the consultation on the main modifications the Inspector published his reports 
without the need for public hearings.  The reports concluded that the AAPs are sound 
and provide an appropriate basis for the planning of the areas.  The Inspector found that 
the Council has sufficient evidence to support the AAPs and can show that they have a 
reasonable chance of being delivered.

2.4 The finding of soundness is subject to the publication AAPs being amended to reflect the 
main modifications required to meet legal and statutory requirements as set out in the 
Inspectors report.  Most of the main modifications were proposed by the Council in 
response to points at issue during the course of the examination.   The Inspector has 
recommended their inclusion after full consideration of the representations from other 
parties on these issues. They do not alter the thrust of the Council’s overall strategy. 

3.0 Main modifications

3.1 For the Stafford Road Corridor AAP the main modifications needed to meet legal and 
statutory requirements can be summarised as:

 Deletion of the HP6 housing allocation (Paget Arms, 10 dwellings) and its 
replacement with employment designations, including as an Employment Investment 
Area, to reflect the recent grant of planning permission for office use;

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 3 of 5

 Reduce the housing target from 1250 to 1235 (to reflect re-allocation of the Paget 
Arms site and no longer rounding up housing figures);

 Changes to employment land totals and commentary, including in Policy SRC1, 
Figure 2 the area designations in Part Three and the maps to update the Plan in the 
light of various changes such as the allocation of the Paget Arms site and clarify that 
high end manufacturing is an aspiration and not a policy requirement on high quality 
employment land;

 Changes to housing totals and commentary, including Policy SRC4, Figure 6 the 
area designations in Part Three and the maps to update the Plan in respect of 
housing commitments and allocations including updating Promise House as a 
commitment rather than an allocation as the site now has planning permission and is 
under construction;

 Allow viability and feasibility to be considered when requiring open space on high 
quality employment sites;

 Add primary policies to the tables in Part Three; and

 Amend the context map to improve legibility.

3.2 For Bilston Corridor the main modifications modifications needed to meet legal and 
statutory requirements can be summarised as:

 amendments to Policy BC1, Figure 2 and the supporting text to update the Plan in 
respect of housing commitments and allocations; 

 changes to the area designations in Part Three to update the Plan in respect of 
housing commitments and allocations. 

 Increase the housing capacity of Bilston Urban Village from 500 to 625 homes, 
following adoption of the Bilston Urban Village Supplementary Planning Document;

 Update the status of Thompson Avenue site to a commitment and increase capacity 
from 100 to 120, following grant of planning permission;

 Clarify that the former Bilston Leisure Centre site has housing potential for 33 homes;

 Clarify that part of the Land at Mount Pleasant site has planning permission for 64 
homes; and

 an amendment to Policy BC8 to introduce a viability and feasibility clause in respect 
of the requirement for open space.

3.3 The publication AAPs, Inspector’s Reports and main modifications are available to view 
at: http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/aap

Page 13

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/aap


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 4 of 5

4. Next steps

4.1 Council approval is required for the formal adoption of the AAPs (including minor and 
main modifications).  It is recommended, subject to Cabinet endorsement, to seek 
Council approval at their meeting on 17 September 2014.  Following Council approval 
the legal adoption procedures can take place, including a six week legal challenge 
period.

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The costs of adopting the Area Action Plans will be met from the approved Planning 
Local Plan revenue budget for 2014/15.  There are no staffing implications for this report
[TK/21082014/I]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires Local Planning 
Authorities to prepare, publish and maintain a Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
including Local Development Documents.  In accordance with Section 17 of the 2004 Act 
the AAP will become a Local Development Document which forms part of the            
Local Plan for Wolverhampton. 

6.2 The procedure to be followed to prepare the AAP is set out in the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/767) which came into 
force on 6 April 2012 and revoked the 2004 Regulations (SI 2004/2204). 

6.3 The 2012 Regulations are now being used to guide the preparation of the AAP. It is 
worth noting that the Regulations (Regulation 38) provide a ‘saving provision’ to ensure 
that work done by the Local Planning Authority under the 2004 Regulations are treated 
as ‘done’ under the corresponding provision of the 2012 Regulations.

6.4 There is a six week legal challenge period following adoption of the AAPs, but it is not 
anticipated that any contentious issues will be raised during this period.
[RB/19082014/M]

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 The development of each AAP has been informed by an on-going Equality Analysis 
which has assessed the potential effects of the emerging policies and proposals on 
different groups of people.  No adverse impacts on groups with protected characteristics 
have been identified through the work to date.

7.2 The AAPs have been identified as having likely positive effects on a number of groups 
with protected characteristics, by addressing issues such as safety and accessibility 
through improved public transport and a well-designed, high quality built environment.  
The general benefits of regeneration promoted through the AAPs (creation of jobs, 
housing & accessible transport) will help deliver stronger communities in the area and 

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 5 of 5

advance equal opportunities.   The AAPs could also help foster good relations and 
equality between some groups, by supporting road safety, facilitating social inclusion and 
promoting community cohesion for those living and working in and around the AAP 
areas. Given the nature of the modifications, that haven’t altered the thrust of the 
strategy, the implications are the same as they were for the submission plan.

7.3 The AAP policies, and their effect on groups with protected characteristics, will be 
monitored annually following adoption.

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has been carried out on each AAP throughout the 
preparation process.  SA is a process for evaluating the environmental consequences of 
proposed policies and proposals to ensure sustainability issues are fully integrated and 
addressed at the earliest appropriate stage. The overall aim of the SA process is to 
inform and influence the development of each AAP and maximise its sustainability value.

9.0 Human resources implications

9.1 None.

10.0 Corporate landlord implications

10.1 The policies and proposals in the AAPs will apply to any Council land and property in the 
AAP areas which is subject to a development proposal.

11.0 Schedule of background papers

 Report to 22 May 2013 Cabinet: Stafford Road Corridor Area Action Plan Publication 
Document 

 Report to 24 July 2013 Cabinet: Bilston Corridor Area Action Plan (AAP) including 
Bilston Neighbourhood Plan – Publication and Submission

 Individual Executive Decision Notice 29 October 2013: Stafford Road Corridor and 
Bilston Road Corridor Area Action Plan Minor Modifications

 Report to 6 November 2013 Full Council: Stafford Road Corridor Area Action Plan - 
Publication and Submission

 Report to 6 November 2013 Full Council: Bilston Corridor Area Action Plan - 
Publication and Submission

 Report to 23 April 2014 Cabinet: Consultation on Modifications to the Stafford Road 
Corridor / Bilston Corridor Area Action Plans

 June 2014, Stafford Road Corridor / Bilston Corridor Area Action Plans Inspectors 
Reports, http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/aap 

Page 15

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/aap


This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC – 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 1 of 5

Agenda Item No:  6

Cabinet Meeting
10 September 2014

Report title Tettenhall and Heathfield Park Neighbourhood 
Plans

Decision designation RED
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Peter Bilson
Economic Regeneration and Prosperity

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected Tettenhall Regis, Tettenhall Wightwick and Heath Town

Accountable director Tim Johnson, Education and Enterprise

Originating service Planning

Accountable employee(s) Helen Smith
Tel
Email

Planning Officer
01902 553820
Helen.Smith3@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Enterprise and Business Scrutiny Panel
Cabinet

24 September 2013
11 September 2013

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is asked to:

Recommend that the Tettenhall and Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plans are ‘made’ by 
Council at its meeting on 17 September 2014.

Recommendations for noting:

The Cabinet is asked to note:

The progress made with the Tettenhall and Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plans.

Page 17

mailto:Helen.Smith3@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC – 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 2 of 5

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To provide an update on the progress made with the preparation of the Tettenhall and 
Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plans and to recommend the formal ‘making’ of the 
neighbourhood plans following the positive community referendum. 

2.0 Background

2.1 The Localism Act (2011) makes new provisions for neighbourhood planning, which 
introduces a major new element in the planning system for England. The Government 
wishes to empower local communities to take a more active role in the development of 
planning policies at the neighbourhood level and the preparation of development 
proposals, reflecting local needs and aspirations.

2.2 A neighbourhood plan is a planning document created by a Parish Council, or in the case 
of Tettenhall and Heathfield Park, a Neighbourhood Forum. The neighbourhood plan sets 
out a vision for the neighbourhood area, and contains policies for the development and 
use of the land in the area. Neighbourhood plans must be subjected to an independent 
examination to confirm their soundness, and then to a local community referendum. If 
approved by a majority vote at the local community referendum, the neighbourhood plan 
can be formally ‘made’ by the Council and will form part of the statutory Development 
Plan for Wolverhampton. Consequently, decisions on whether or not to grant planning 
permission in the neighbourhood area will need to be made in accordance with the 
neighbourhood plan, unless material consideration indicate otherwise.

2.3 The Tettenhall Neighbourhood Plan and the Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan are 
Wolverhampton’s first neighbourhood plans and put the city at the forefront of 
neighbourhood planning nationally. Wolverhampton is the first metropolitan area to hold 
a neighbourhood plan referendum and the first anywhere to hold a referendum with more 
than one area taking part. The Tettenhall Neighbourhood Plan is also the largest set of 
proposals anywhere in the country to reach this stage.

2.4 Both neighbourhood plans were created over the past three years by residents from 
Tettenhall and Heathfield Park via their Local Neighbourhood Partnerships (LNP), with 
support from the Council’s Planning, Housing and Neighbourhood Services teams.

2.5 The neighbourhood plans support the delivery of 975 new homes, investment in parks, 
open spaces and transport facilities, provide a stronger emphasis on local character in 
planning decisions and provide a basis for the improvement of residential areas including 
the regeneration of the Heath Town Estate.

3.0 Neighbourhood Plan Progress

3.1 The Tettenhall Neighbourhood Forum (formed from the LNP) was designated in 
December 2012. After extensive consultation with the local community and evidence 
gathering they produced a neighbourhood plan covering the Tettenhall LNP area 
(Tettenhall Regis and Tettenhall Wighwick wards) and submitted the plan to the Council 

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC – 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 3 of 5

in January 2014. The Council undertook a six week statutory consultation before sending 
the neighbourhood plan to an independent examiner in March 2014.

3.2 The Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan has been produced by the Heathfield Park 
Neighbourhood Forum steering group, in consultation with the local community. The 
Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Forum (formed from the LNP) was also designated as a 
Neighbourhood Forum in December 2012. The Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan 
covers the areas of Heath Town, Springfield, and New Park Village. The Heathfield Park 
Neighbourhood Plan was also submitted to the Council in January 2014 and the Council 
undertook a six week statutory consultation before sending the plan to an independent 
examiner in March 2014.

3.3 There has been extensive consultation on the neighbourhood plans as they have 
developed. Consultation and engagement has included stakeholder workshops, public 
launch events, community roadshows and work with local schools, sample household 
and business surveys, and workshops on site specific proposals.

3.4 The neighbourhood plan policies have been considered by key service areas within the 
Council including Planning, Transport, Commercial Development, and the Local 
Neighbourhood Partnership Service. The Ward Councillors have also been consulted 
during the plan production stage.

3.5 The Council also appointed two independent examiners to consider whether the 
proposed neighbourhood plans meet the basic conditions set out by law. The examiner’s 
reports concluded that the neighbourhood plans do meet the basic conditions and agreed 
that the plans should proceed to referendum stage.

4.0 Final Steps

4.1 Following a successful examination of both plans, the neighbourhood plans were the 
subject of a community referendum held on 17 July 2014. The neighbourhood plans 
received a majority ‘yes’ vote. 92% of people voted yes to the Tettenhall Neighbourhood 
Plan and 91% of people voted yes in Heathfield Park. Paragraph 38A (4)(a) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended requires that the Council 
must ‘make’ (adopt) the neighbourhood plan if more than half of those voting have voted 
in favour of the neighbourhood plan. The Council are not subject to this duty if the 
making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU 
obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 
1998). It is the formal ‘making’ of the neighbourhood plans that Council is being asked to 
consider and agree to at its meeting on 17 September 2014. 

4.2 Neighbourhood Forums have a lifespan of five years from the date of their being 
designated, and prior to this there are mechanisms for Forums to wind themselves up 
whereby the Forum is formally ‘withdrawn’.  In the case of Tettenhall and Heathfield Park 
the Forums (and any successor arrangements) will therefore have a lifespan from 
December 2012 to December 2017 and will maintain their status as Neighbourhood 
Forums during this period so long as the qualifying criteria are met. Following the 

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC – 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 4 of 5

‘making’ of the neighbourhood plans the Forums will have an important role to play in 
their monitoring and implementation, particularly in relation to their application in planning 
decisions. There will be a need for the Forums to liaise with the Council to agree a set of 
working arrangements post 2017.  

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The total gross cost for each neighbourhood plan is anticipated to be around £70,000. 
This has been met from the Council’s approved Local Plan budget for 2013/14 and 
funding awarded from the Government to assist Local Authorities with the preparation of 
neighbourhood plans. The Government has provided funding of £55,000 for each 
neighbourhood plan, of which we have already received £35,000. The final £20,000 has 
recently been requested to cover the referendum costs.

5.2 In addition to the £55,000, Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
also provided funding (up to £7,000) and direct support for the communities preparing 
neighbourhood plans. The Council was successful in securing the maximum funding 
available (£7,000) and direct support from this new scheme for both neighbourhood 
plans. The direct support was provided by Planning Aid England. The funds received by 
this new scheme were managed by the Local Neighbourhood Partnership which helped 
the community to prepare the neighbourhood plans. The Council was the Accountable 
Body and any expenditure incurred was required to comply with the Council’s contract 
procedural rules. [TK/12082014/X]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 The Localism Act 2011 (sections 116 to 121) and the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 came into force on 6 April 2012 and have a direct bearing on the status 
and preparation of neighbourhood plans. Neighbourhood plans must be prepared in 
general conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Black 
Country Core Strategy (BCCS). Neighbourhood plans will form part of the statutory 
Development Plan for the City and will be a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications and appeals. The neighbourhood plan also needs to comply with 
EU Directives and human rights obligations.

6.2 There is a six week legal challenge period following the publication of the referendum 
results on Friday 18 July 2014, but it is not anticipated that any contentious issues will be 
raised during this period on the neighbourhood plan documents or the conduct of the 
referendum. [KR/06082014/G]

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 The Tettenhall and Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plans have been informed by an 
Equality Analysis which assessed the potential effects of the policies in the 
neighbourhood plans. The analysis had due regard to the three aims of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty, and was further informed by the public consultation undertaken on the 

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC – 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 5 of 5

neighbourhood plans. The analysis shows that the proposals are compatible with our 
responsibilities in relation to the Equalities Act and Duty.

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) was carried out on the two neighbourhood plans. This is a 
process for evaluating the environmental consequences of proposed policies to ensure 
sustainability issues are fully integrated and addressed at the earliest appropriate stage. 
The overall aim of the SA process is to inform and influence the development of the 
neighbourhood plan, and to maximise its sustainability value.

8.2 The SA has informed the production of the neighbourhood plans from start to finish 
ensuring that the range of economic, social and environmental issues has been 
considered. The SA process has helped to demonstrate how the neighbourhood plans 
meet the EU obligations, which is a legal requirement of the Localism Act.

9.0 Schedule of background papers

9.1 A Neighbourhood Plan for the Tettenhall Wards – Our Place Our Plan – 2014-2026
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning

9.2 Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan – Your Plan Your Future – 2014-2026
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning

9.3 Equality Analysis reports 

9.4 Cabinet Reports – 11 September 2013 – ‘Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan and 
Heath Town Masterplan’ and ‘Tettenhall Neighbourhood Plan’

Page 21

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning


This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 1 of 10

Agenda Item No:  7

Cabinet Meeting
10 September 2014

Report title Reduction of Play Service Provision

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Val Gibson
Children and Families

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected St Peter’s, Fallings Park and Bushbury South and Low Hill

Accountable director Sarah Norman, Communities

Originating service Early Help 0 – 5 years

Accountable employee(s) Andrew Wolverson
Tel
Email

Head of Service
01902 551272
Andrew.wolverson 
@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Strategic Executive Board
Children & Young People Scrutiny Panel
Cabinet

14 August 2014
14 August 2014
10 September 2014

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:
1. Agree to a six week period of consultation with users and stakeholders outlining 

proposals for a reduction in the Play Service budget.
2. Subject to the consultation not identifying a significantly different proposal to the one 

outlined within this report, the Cabinet Member for Children and Families in consultation 
with the Strategic Director Community be authorised to approve the closure of the Gatis 
Street and Scotlands Adventure Playgrounds, and to declare the sites surplus to the 
operational requirements of the Play Service and then promote them for a Community 
Asset Transfer if appropriate.

3. Agree to maintain Old Fallings Adventure Playground through funding from Short Breaks 
and Public Health.

4. Receive a further report in the event that a significant proposal to the one outlined within 
this report is identified during the consultation.

Page 23



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 2 of 10

Recommendations for noting:
The Cabinet is asked to note:

The feedback from Children and Young People scrutiny panel as set out in appendix 1.

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 3 of 10

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out proposals for a reduction in the current play 
service provision leading to the removal of funding for two out of the current three 
adventure playground sites.

1.2 The report will also outline proposals for the utilisation of funding from Public Health and 
Aiming Higher for Disabled Children grants in order to continue provision at Old Fallings 
Adventure Playground

2.0 Background

2.1 Wolverhampton Play Service has been in existence since 1972.  Until 2012 it operated 
six open access adventure playground sites across the city, however this reduced to 
three following savings requirements.  In 2010 the Play Service secured funding from the 
Department for Education (formerly Department for Children, Schools and Families to 
develop a purpose built, state of the art play facility which was located in Low Hill.

2.2 The service has always targeted the most deprived areas of Wolverhampton bringing 
access to high quality play experiences that build self-confidence, self-esteem and 
socialisation skills.  In addition to the adventure playgrounds this has also been through 
running open access holiday provision within local parks across the City.

2.3 The play service supports the Council in meeting its statutory duty to to secure, as far as 
is practicable, sufficient services and activities to improve the wellbeing of young people 
(section 507B of the Education Act 2006).

2.4 The review of the Play Service is necessitated as part of the overall Social Inclusion 
savings target for 2015/16 of £1 million and will result in savings of £456,000.

3.0 Proposal

3.1 Cabinet are requested to consider proposals for the reduction of funding available for the 
play facilities currently offered at Gatis Street, Scotlands and Old Fallings Adventure 
Playgrounds.

3.2 In consultation with senior colleagues within Public Health, funding has been sourced to 
enable the continuation of provision from Old Fallings Adventure Playground in line with 
the desire to reduce obesity through increasing activity levels amongst families.

3.3 Old Fallings has been selected as the site to retain as it was purposely built through 
funding from the Department for Education (formerly DCSF) in 2010.  In addition to this it 
has the widest range of facilities including specialist ones for children with disabilities. 

Page 25



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 4 of 10

3.4 The purpose of securing funding for a further one year period is to enable the completion 
of the re-commissioning of healthy lifestyles activities currently being undertaken by 
Public Health and to ascertain the viability of longer term investment in play opportunities 
as part of an on-going strategy.

3.5 It is intended to undertake a six week public consultation to outline the proposals to the 
user and the local communities.  This consultation will also be used to test whether any 
community groups would wish to operate the Gatis Street and Scotlands Adventure 
Playgrounds following a Community Asset Transfer.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 The approved budget for these play areas is £456,000.  This is funded entirely from 
mainline General Fund resources.  It is proposed that the mainline resources are 
surrendered in full, in order to contribute towards the approved saving of £1.0 million 
from Early Help services in 2015/16.

4.2 It is proposed that the remaining play area would be funded entirely from specific grant 
funding: £120,000 from Public Health Grant and £29,000 from Aiming Higher for 
Disabled Children.  In addition, it is hoped that a further £10,000 of external income will 
be generated through use of the premises by other groups.  

4.3 The estimated cost of the revised service provision for a full year in 2015/16 is £112,000, 
comprising £107,000 staffing costs and £5,000 (non-centralised) premises costs.  The 
available funding is therefore sufficient to fund the proposed revised service.
[DK/08082014/W]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 The Council is not required under any statute to provide a play service, however, given 
that it supports the Council in meeting its statutory duty to secure, as far as is practicable, 
sufficient services and activities to improve the wellbeing of young people (section 507B 
of the Education Act 2006) a six week period of consultation will be undertaken with the 
public to outline the proposals. 

5.2 If any of the service were to be taken on by a new provider consideration would need to 
given as to the legal aspects of such a transfer.  This would need to include, but not be 
limited to, whether the Transfer of Undertakings, Protection of Employment (TUPE) 
regulations apply to those staff currently employed.
[27082014/K/RLB]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 A full equalities analysis was completed for the previous reduction of adventure 
playgrounds.  It is proposed that this analysis be refreshed and updated to reflect the 
new proposals.  The outcome of the revised analysis will be taken into consideration 
when implementing the proposals.    

Page 26



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 5 of 10

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There is the potential for any vacant building to attract anti-social behaviour for the period 
the building is unoccupied which may lead to deterioration in the fabric of the property.  
Also due to the nature of the adventure playgrounds consideration would need to be 
given to ensuring the safe removal external equipment to remove risk of injury to anyone 
accessing the site should it close.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The proposals in this report will lead to a reduction in staffing.  The proposals will require 
the deletion of the following posts; 1 x Play Development Manager; 1 x Senior Play 
Development Officer; 6 x Playwork Assistants; 0.5 Stores Person; 1 x Administration 
Officer and 1 x Clerical Officer.

8.2 The proposed restructuring required to achieve the savings would follow the Council’s 
procedures by completing a formal consultation process including ensuring that 
recognised trade unions are consulted and notified at every stage of the process.

8.3 In line with Council policy in order to mitigate against compulsory redundancy employees 
would be given an opportunity to leave the service through the voluntary redundancy 
scheme.

8.4 HR and legal advice would need to be sought as to whether employees would transfer to 
any new operators of the adventure playground under the TUPE regulations, including in 
circumstances where a Community Asset Transfer has taken place.

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 If approved the proposals would result in the Gatis Street and Scotlands Adventure 
Playgrounds being declared surplus to the operational requirements of the Play Service.  
The land and property related savings of this proposal would only be fully realised on the 
disposal of sites or the re-use of the sites through a Community Asset Transfer.

9.2 If declared surplus the sites would initially be promoted as an opportunity for a 
Community Asset Transfer.  This will give the Play Service the opportunity to work with 
community groups to develop a sustainable business case to support a Community 
Asset Transfer.  If this is not achievable the approval from Cabinet (Resources) Panel 
would be sought for the disposal of the sites.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Five Year Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014/15 to 2018/19, Cabinet, 23 
October 2013.
Reduction of Play Service provision, Children & Young People scrutiny panel, 14 August 
2014.

Page 27



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 6 of 10

Appendix 1

The following is a summary of key comments from Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel 
about the report Reduction of play service provision

1. Cllr Mark Evans stated that the Conservative group do not accept that this report is a pre-
decision scrutiny item. Cllr Evans commented that the panel were not been given sufficient 
prior notice to properly consider the proposals detailed in the report. Furthermore, Cllr Evans 
was concerned that ward councillors affected by the change had not been properly 
consulted about the changes in advance of the meeting.

Cllr Val Gibson outlined the reason for the late submission of the report and outlined what 
action had been taken by Officers to consult with ward members before the paper was 
presented to scrutiny panel.  All ward members had been contacted and direct 
conversations had taken place with Councillors from St Peters ward.

Community asset transfer

2. There were concerns about the feasibility of the community groups taking the responsibilities 
involved in managing the sites, which under the proposals would take on the responsibilities 
involved in community asset transfer.

As part of the consultation period and expressions of interest from community groups, 
officers would undertake work to support them in undertaking a community asset transfer 
and the responsibilities related to this.  Community Asset transfer had been successful in a 
previous reduction of Adventure Playground sites and saw Ettingshall Adventure Playground 
transferred for use to Bilston CE Primary School.

3. There was suggestion that if there was no interest from community groups in taking over the 
sites at Gatis Street and Scotlands Adventure that an alternative option to disposal of the 
site should be considered.

Further to the above question related to holding sites declared surplus that would otherwise 
be disposed of from the Council’s property portfolio the Corporate Landlord offers the 
following response:

Land and property assets which are declared surplus to the Council’s requirements (for the 
provision of operational services; income generation and future Strategic Regeneration 
purposes) are disposed of as soon as possible in compliance with Section 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1978.

Whilst being prepared for disposal these surplus assets are managed by the Corporate 
Landlord’s Asset Management team with a finite budget provided for this purpose. Typically 
this budget is used to ensure site security or minimal maintenance to protect the value of the 
surplus assets prior to their transfer or disposal and generation of a capital receipt and/or 
removal of revenue liability to the Council.

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 7 of 10

Holding surplus assets back from disposal does not typically happen without significant 
assurance as to an intended future use, or additional budget provision being made for 
exceptional circumstances (which is explicitly agreed by Councillors) since the expectation is 
that the expenditure on the surplus assets budget will be minimised, with capital receipts and 
revenue savings captured at the earliest opportunity.

For these reasons it is likely that having been declared surplus to the Council’s requirements 
all assets would be transferred or disposed of in the shortest possible timeframe to mitigate 
the risks of additional variable expenditure being incurred.

4. There was a query about the level of professional support that would be given to community 
groups, who may be interested in operating Gatis Street and Scotlands Adventure, but may 
not have the experience and knowledge to submit a bid and manage a scheme. 
Furthermore, it was commented as to whether it was appropriate to have some dedicated 
professional support for groups looking to take on the management of other council services 
across the Council.

Officers provided reassurance that support could be offered to community groups through 
existing resources within Early Help in developing business plans to enable them to apply for 
funding.  

5. Reassurance was needed that any community group interested in taking over the sites 
would be given advice on issues of safeguarding. Furthermore that the necessary checks 
would be done to ensure that interested groups meet any safeguarding 
duties/responsibilities.

The Early Help 0-5 team would be able to provide advice and guidance to community groups 
in ensuring they meet legal requirements for the safeguarding of children.

Selection criteria

6. There was a need for more details about the selection criteria used to determine that the 
Gatis Street and Scotlands Adventure sites should be considered for closure. The report 
should include details about current site usage by young children.

The selection criteria were based on two main factors, current usage of sites and the 
facilities available at the current sites to enable future service delivery.

In relation to the first criteria usage statistics for the three sites from July 2013 to July 2014 
show that there were 3163 attendances at Gatis Street adventure playground, 4441 at 
Scotlands and 5123 at Old Fallings respectively.  This is in line with the historical trend of 
usage although usage overall has fallen year on year since 2012.

In respect of facilities, Old Fallings was purpose built in 2010 through funding from central 
government.  The site was designed so that it was fully accessible by children and families 
with disabilities.  In addition to this the site also benefits from facilities such as a training 

Page 29



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 8 of 10

room and catering kitchen which supports the desire to offer sessions to families around 
healthy lifestyles and healthy eating in line with Public Health outcomes.

Based on this evidence, Old Fallings was identified as being the preferred site to maintain 
going forward. 

7. Concern about the risk of young people being involved crime and disorder if the sites at 
Scotlands and Gatis are closed. Both sites are located in deprived communities.

It is hoped that the sites will continue to be available to the community through an asset 
transfer.  If however the provision ceases, work will be done within the specific communities 
to highlight the range of community activities and groups that operate within the local area 
that could support families in preventing their children becoming involved in anti-social 
behaviour.  The age range of the children who attend, 5 – 12 years, should also restrict the 
potential for such behaviours.

8. Concern about the impact of the proposals on children with special educational needs and if 
they would be able be able to meet the extra costs.

The site at Old Fallings is already publicised to families as the main site for provision for 
children with additional needs and therefore officers do not feel that the proposals will 
present a significant change for families from this specific group who wish to access 
adventure play.

9. Concern that young people who currently use the sites which have been selected for closure 
would be unwilling to travel to Old Fallings Adventure Playground.

Officers accept that not all children will travel to Old Fallings.  However, going forward the 
provision would become more targeted and therefore would not be intending to provide an 
open access service to all families within the City.

Funding 

10.There was an acceptance by the report authors that the financial implications section needs 
to be redrafted to better support the conclusion that there were sufficient funds to support 
the delivery of the newly restructured service

Re-drafted financial implications section in relation to question 10:

4.1The approved mainline general fund budget for the Play service for 2014/15 is £456,000. 
It is proposed that the mainline resources are surrendered in full, in order to contribute 
towards the approved saving of £1.0 million from Early Help services in 2015/16.

4.2The estimated cost of the revised service provision for Old Fallings Adventure 
Playground for 2015/16 is £159,000, comprising of £117,000 staffing costs, £27,000 for 
centralised corporate landlord costs and £15,000 general running costs of operating the 
playground.

Page 30



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 9 of 10

4.3It is proposed that the playground area would be funded through specific grants from 
Public Health £120,000 and Aiming Higher for Disabled Children £29,000, along with 
external lettings income of £10,000 generated through use of premises by other groups.

[NM/21082014/Q]

11.Based on the figures presented in the report it was estimated there was likely to be an 
unallocated amount of £49,000 in the budget. It was explained during the meeting that this 
figure relates to building management costs. A detailed explanation about rationale for 
allocating £49,000 for this purpose should be provided.

The original financial implications section of the report showed a variance against 
unallocated income of £47,000, this was due to the following costs been excluded from the 
original £112,000 quoted in paragraph 4.3 of the report:

 Additional staffing costs associated with the employment of an Apprentice Play 
worker of £10,000.

 Centralised corporate landlord costs of Old Fallings Adventure Playground of 
£27,000.

 General running costs associated with operating the adventure playground of 
£10,000.

12.  Clarification sought about the level of the commitment of Public Health to fund Old Fallings 
Adventure Playground after the first year of operation.

The current funding package is for 12 months.  However, officers were confident that a long 
term use, as part of a healthy lifestyles strategy, could be secured for Old Fallings and that 
this was recognised by Public Health, hence the proposed investment.

Future play provision 

13.There was concern about the consequences of the disposal of assets at this stage due to 
the financial pressure. The option to ‘mothball’ the two sites should be considered as 
alternative to selling the land.

See response to point 3.

14.Reassurance needs to be given that there would be a rigorous public consultation process 
with service users about the proposals.

As a non-statutory service there is no legal requirement to consult, however, given the 
nature of the service a six week consultation will be undertaken with users, stakeholders and 
staff should the proposals be agreed by Cabinet.

15.Clarification needed about whether the planned changes would still ensure that the Council 
continues to meet its statutory responsibilities. Clarification sought about the definition of the 

Page 31



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 10 of 10

term “sufficient services” as referred to in the report with reference to the Education Act 
2006.

The act referred to within the report sets out two types of activity, educational and 
recreational.  The Play service would be considered to fall within the definition as set out 
below.

“Recreational leisure-time activities’ include sports and informal physical activities, as well as 
a wide range of cultural activities including music, performing and visual arts.”

The act itself provides clarification of what is meant by reasonably practicable in providing 
sufficient activity,  

“The duty is qualified by the term ‘reasonably practicable’ which means that the 
determination of whether the local authority is acting reasonably in its actions to secure 
access to positive activities and associated facilities for young people in its area will depend 
on the particular circumstances of the local authority and the particular requirement for 
access to such activities and facilities.”  

In addition to this it also states, 

“In judging what is reasonably practicable an authority may take into account its resources, 
capabilities and other priorities, as well as that of its children’s trust partners in the private 
and third sector.”

A full equality analysis will be undertaken which will highlight any groups of individuals with 
protected characteristics which may be disadvantaged by the proposals and the plans that 
will be put in place to mitigate these.

Officers feel that across the City there are sufficient groups within the voluntary and third 
sector offering leisure activities.  In addition to this the Council continues to provides access 
to leisure centres and also maintains a number of open spaces and parks that children can 
access.       

16.Concern about the loss of play provision as a result of closing adventure playgrounds 
proposed in the report, at the time when the Epic is due for closure and the planned opening 
of the Youth Zone in 2017. 

Officers acknowledged it was unfortunate to be losing these facilities, particularly at a time 
when other facilities had also been lost, however, the proposals were required to enable the 
Council to meet its budget saving requirements and fitted with its overall strategy of targeting 
services.  Assurances were given that every effort would be made to make families, 
particularly those who currently used the play facilities, aware of other opportunities within 
their local area for adventure play such as open play spaces and public parks.  In addition it 
was reinforced that community asset transfer would be pursued with local stakeholders. 

17.Reassurance wanted about there was sufficient spare capacity to accommodate children 
and young people who currently use Gatis Street and Scotlands Adventure Playgrounds.
See response to point 9.

Page 32



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 1 of 6

Agenda Item No:  9

Cabinet Meeting
10 September 2014

Report title First Impressions of the City Scrutiny Review
Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member to give 
management response

Councillor Peter Bilson
Economic Regeneration and Prosperity

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Review Chair Cllr Phil Bateman

Review Members Cllr Payal Bedi                                                   
Cllr Malcolm Gwinnett 
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Peter O’Neill 

Cllr John Rowley                                    
Cllr Stephen Simkins                                   
Cllr Andrew Wynne                                   

Lead Scrutiny Review 
Officer

Earl Piggott-Smith
Tel. Office: 01902 551251
E-mail: earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Link Officer Sue Handy
Head Of Service Delivery
Tel. Office: 01902 553053
E-mail: sue.handy@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Strategic Executive Board 17 April 2014

Recommendations for action or decision:

a. Receive the report of the First Impressions of the City Scrutiny Review attached at 
Appendix 1 and consider the following recommendations from the review:

Developing a joint marketing strategy and communication strategy for 
Wolverhampton

1. The Review Group support the proposed principles for the City Marketing Strategy and 
would welcome an early response from Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration and 

Page 33

mailto:E-mail:%20earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:E-mail:%20sue.handy@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 2 of 6

Prosperity about how these will now be developed into a marketing strategy and plan that 
will be delivered by the council together with its partners. 

2. The Review Group was concerned about achieving a joined up approach to marketing 
and communication. The Strategic Director for Education and Enterprise should provide 
a report and presentation within three months on how this will be achieved. 

3. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise supported by the Head of Corporate 
Communications to produce a city marketing strategy and plan, including the 
identification and use of the main resources available across the Council to support its 
delivery.  The plan should also include identifying any the key gaps in resource which will 
form the basis of discussions with partners, stakeholders and external funders.

4. A report detailing progress in the delivery of the plan to be presented to Cabinet every six 
months thereafter.

5. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise should incorporate activities being 
undertaken by key partners involved in either improving the "visit offer", "business offer" 
and the "shopping offer" and or Marketing Wolverhampton, in a further iteration of the 
plan. This should include a review on whether current resources are sufficient to support 
any planned future marketing initiatives, events and campaigns developed from the 
strategy.

Improving the Wolverhampton ‘offer’

1. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise to be invited to include within the 
progress report at the start of each municipal year an analysis of any business and 
resident perception surveys, together with any other relevant information, together with 
any recommendations for improving the Wolverhampton offer and how they will be taken 
forward.

2. The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Prosperity, in collaboration with other Cabinet 
Members as appropriate, to be invited to update Cabinet six monthly, on progress to 
address agreed actions to improve the Wolverhampton Offer, based on the business and 
resident perception surveys and other evidence provided by the Strategic Director for 
Education and Enterprise.

3. Consideration should be given to tasking the City Centre Regeneration Advisory Group 
to scrutinise current work being done to improve the city centre `offer' and follow up 
issues highlighted during the review evidence sessions and report their findings to the 
appropriate scrutiny panel.

4. The City Centre Member Advisory Group  should review and report on progress in 
delivering specific regeneration projects against an agreed timetable; particularly those 
projects where delays are likely to impact negatively on the reputation of the City as a 
destination of choice.

Page 34



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 3 of 6

5. The importance of the City’s cultural ‘offer’ to the City and the wider Black Country has 
been highlighted in the Black Country Strategic Economic Plan and also the draft Greater 
Birmingham Visitor Economy. 

6. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise to keep Cabinet updated on a 
quarterly basis on progress in securing external investments and the findings from the 
review.

Managing and improving the reputation of Wolverhampton

1. The Head of Policy and Head of Communication to be invited to present a report to 
Cabinet on the feasibility of Wolverhampton Council adopting the Building Trust: Action 
developed by the Local Government Association. The results should be published either 
six monthly or annually. The information should be used to inform the development of the 
any future communication and marketing plans for the City.

2. The Head of Policy and Head of Communication to be invited to consider revising 
Wolverhampton Residents' Opinion Survey to include specific questions about what 
people overall think about the City and views about the current ‘offer’. 

3. The Head of Policy to review the findings of the relevant public survey responses should 
be reviewed and used to inform future plans aimed at improving the current 'offer'. 
For example, the Express and Star – Your say survey and The National Student Survey 
findings from Wolverhampton University.

4. The Head of Policy to present a summary of the findings annually to Scrutiny Board. The 
results should be separated into "visit offer", "business offer" and "shopping offer" and 
include details of specific action taken to improve the ‘offer’. 

5. Head of Customer Services to be consulted on marketing and communication plans for 
the City to ensure that they are built around improving the current customer experience. 
Head of Customer Services to lead on development of work flow and rules for business 
and civic events in the public domain

6. To develop an information report to include intelligence relating to customer contact for 
these services. The report to be presented to the City Centre Project Board on a three 
monthly basis to inform their work.

Harnessing the value of social media for Councillors

1. Head of Communication to be tasked to either arrange appropriate social media training 
for Councillors or share published guidance on the subject. Priority should be given to 
supporting those Councillors who regularly use Facebook and Twitter as part of efforts to 
engage with the public or have a keen interest in building their social media presence. 
The group should be invited to set out proposals for encouraging all Councillors to 
register on Wolverhampton Twitter and Facebook for email information alerts.

Page 35



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 4 of 6

2. The Head of Communication to prepare a revised current social networking guide. The 
guide to be shared with all Councillors and appropriate support offered. 

3. The Head of Communication to be invited to advise how the success of initiative in 
meeting its objectives can be assessed. The findings to be shared with the Councillor 
Development and Information Technology Advisory Group.

4. The Head of Communication to set up a community discussion forum similar to that 
developed by Dudley Council. The aim of the forum would be to provide a space to 
discuss local issues or future plans relating to the regeneration of the City or improving 
the current ‘offer’:

b. Approve the Executive response to the review recommendations (Appendix 2)

c. Refer the Cabinet response to Scrutiny Board for them to monitor the implementation of the 
agreed recommendations.

Page 36



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 5 of 6

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To bring to the attention of Cabinet the findings and recommendations of the review 
(Appendix 1) and to agree the executive response. (Appendix 2).

2.0 Background

2.1 At the Annual Scrutiny Planning Session on 15 April 2013 Elected Members and Co-
opted Members suggested “The Wolverhampton Offer – First impressions of the City” as 
a subject matter which could benefit from a scrutiny review. The review was chaired by 
Cllr Phil Bateman.

2.2 The review group considered written and documentary evidence from a range of 
witnesses, both internal and external, to better understand what the offer is and how the 
City is being marketed and promoted.

3.0 Discussion

3.1 The report focused on a number of issues linked to gaps in the current ‘Wolverhampton 
offer’ to shoppers, business and visitors and the work being done to tackle those issues 
which give visitors and businesses in particular, a poor, a first impression of the City.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 It is anticipated that theimplementation of the review recommendations will be achievable 
within existing staff resources. However, implementing the review recommendations may 
require existing resources to be reprioritised.
[CN/28082014/G]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications linked to the recommendations from the review.
[RB/29082014/V]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendations of the review. 

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications linked to the recommendations from the review

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 There are no human resources implications arising from the recommendations of the 
review.

Page 37



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 6 of 6

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no corporate implications arising from the recommendations of the review.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 None

Page 38



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 1 of 38

Appendix 1

First Impressions of the City Scrutiny Review

Final Draft Report 

Date edited 01/09/14

Page 39



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 2 of 38

Preface

"A wise person once said ' You never get a second chance to make a 
first impression'..."

What people think about Wolverhampton as a place to shop, visit, do 
business and study matters – it matters because the City's future prosperity 
will depend on its ability to improve its 'offer'

An improved 'offer’ will allow Wolverhampton to compete more readily with 
neighbouring areas to attract visitors, developers, new businesses and 
shoppers, as part of wider efforts to regenerate the City.

For the purpose of this review the' offer has been broadly separated into the 
following areas - "visit offer", "business offer" and "shopping offer".

It is clear from the evidence presented that Wolverhampton has got some 
things right in terms of its ‘offer’ in these areas, but improvements are needed. 

The Review Group are reassured by witness evidence that there is a 
determination by employees and local partners to make the necessary 
changes to improve the current ‘offer’.

The publication of the Wolverhampton City Centre Prospectus (2013) is 
welcomed. The following quote sets out a positive vision for future of the City 
centre:

"A vibrant, walkable, attractive, family-friendly city centre full of 
opportunity and potential. A city centre which is compact enough to be 
welcoming and accessible, but large enough to boast some of the UK's 
best retail, leisure and cultural facilities." 

It is important that Wolverhampton gets its City centre 'offer' right if wants to 
make progress towards this vision. The document sets out a plan for 
improving the current 'offer' and making Wolverhampton a more attractive 
place. It is important that there is a clear and consistent message from the 
Council and other key local organisations that Wolverhampton is open for 
business and that everyone involved is working to the same overall shared 
vision for the future.

The challenges facing the City in achieving this are not new and have been 
the subject of previous scrutiny reviews. Many of the concerns about gaps in 
the current 'offer' are not necessarily within the direct control of the Council. 
However, the Council can and should seek to continue to positively influence 
partners whose decisions will help deliver an improved 'offer'.

The Council has a key role in leading efforts to market Wolverhampton and in 
making the necessary changes to deliver an 'offer' that is both attractive and 
competitive to the groups we want to reach. 
 

Page 40



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 3 of 38

The Review Group's role has been to offer appropriate challenge to those 
people responsible for delivering an improved 'offer' and provide reassurance 
to the public that everything that can be done to improve the 'offer', is being 
done.

The Review Group has investigated the work being done to make 
Wolverhampton a more attractive place by tackling the issues that give people 
a poor first impression. 

The Review Group also investigated the work being done to positively market 
and promote Wolverhampton, as a destination of choice.

The Review Group has taken evidence from the public and other interested 
parties who have kindly agreed to participate in this important review. The 
evidence collected has helped the Review Group to get a better 
understanding of issues that shape and inform people's views about 
Wolverhampton and where the Council and its partners needs to focus its 
attention. 

A final draft of the report will be shared with witnesses who have contributed 
evidence to this review.

The Review Group is grateful for the employee support received during the 
review.

The Review Group does not want to see this report gather dust on a shelf, 
without any changes coming as a result of the findings. It is important 
therefore that the report is read and the recommendations acted upon by the 
Council and partner organisations. The review report recommendations set 
out a process for delivering an improved ‘offer’ that responds positively to the 
issues highlighted by witnesses.

We therefore commend our report and recommendations to Cabinet and look 
forward to working with all interested parties to improve the 'offer' and 
positively market Wolverhampton as a great place to visit, shop, study and do 
business.

Cllr Phil Bateman
Chair - First Impressions of the City Review Group

Page 41



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 4 of 38

Review Recommendations

Objective 1 – Developing a joint marketing strategy and communication 
strategy for Wolverhampton

1. The Review Group support the proposed principles for the City Marketing 
Strategy and would welcome an early response from Cabinet Member for 
Economic Regeneration and Prosperity about how these will now be 
developed into a marketing strategy and plan that will be delivered by the 
council together with its partners. 

2. The Review Group was concerned about achieving a joined up approach 
to marketing and communication. The Strategic Director for Education and 
Enterprise should provide a report and presentation within three months 
on how this will be achieved. 

3. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise supported by the Head 
of Corporate Communications to produce a city marketing strategy and 
plan, including the identification and use of the main resources available 
across the Council to support its delivery.  The plan should also include 
identifying any the key gaps in resource which will form the basis of 
discussions with partners, stakeholders and external funders.

4. A report detailing progress in the delivery of the plan to be presented to 
Cabinet every six months thereafter.

5. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise should incorporate  
activities being undertaken by key partners involved in either improving the 
"visit offer", "business offer" and the "shopping offer" and or Marketing 
Wolverhampton, in a further iteration of the plan. This should include a 
review on whether current resources are sufficient to support any planned 
future marketing initiatives, events and campaigns developed from the 
strategy.

Objective 2 – Improving the Wolverhampton ‘offer’

1. The Director of Education and Enterprise to be invited to include within the 
progress report at the start of each municipal year an analysis of any 
business and resident perception surveys, together with any other relevant 
information, together with any recommendations for improving the 
Wolverhampton offer and how they will be taken forward.

2. The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Prosperity, in collaboration 
with other Cabinet Members as appropriate, to be invited to update 
Cabinet six monthly, on progress to address agreed actions to improve the 
Wolverhampton Offer, based on the business and resident perception 
surveys and other evidence provided by the Strategic Director for 
Education and Enterprise.

Page 42



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 5 of 38

3. Consideration should be given to tasking the City Centre Member Advisory 
Group to scrutinise current work being done to improve the city centre 
`offer' and follow up issues highlighted during the review evidence 
sessions and report their findings to the appropriate scrutiny panel.

4. The City Centre Member Advisory Group  should review and report on 
progress in delivering specific regeneration projects against an agreed 
timetable; particularly those projects where delays are likely to impact 
negatively on the reputation of the City as a destination of choice.

5. The importance of the City’s cultural ‘offer’ to the City and the wider Black 
Country has been highlighted in the Black Country Strategic Economic 
Plan and also the draft Greater Birmingham Visitor Economy. 

6. The Strategic Director of Education and Enterprise to keep Cabinet 
updated on a quarterly basis on progress in securing external investments 
and the findings from the review.

Objective 3 – Managing and improving the reputation of Wolverhampton

1. The Head of Policy and Head of Communication to be invited to present a 
report to Cabinet on the feasibility of Wolverhampton Council adopting the 
Building Trust: Action developed by the Local Government Association. 
The results should be published either six monthly or annually. The 
information should be used to inform the development of the any future 
communication and marketing plans for the City.

2. The Head of Policy and Head of Communication to be invited to consider 
revising Wolverhampton Residents' Opinion Survey to include specific 
questions about what people overall think about the City and views about 
the current ‘offer’. 

3. The Head of Policy to review the findings of the relevant public survey 
responses should be reviewed and used to inform future plans aimed at 
improving the current 'offer'. 

For example, the Express and Star – Your say survey and The National 
Student Survey findings from Wolverhampton University.

4. The Head of Policy to present a summary of the findings annually to 
Scrutiny Board. The results should be separated into "visit offer", 
"business offer" and "shopping offer" and include details of specific action 
taken to improve the ‘offer’. 

5. Head of Customer Services to be consulted on marketing and 
communication plans for the City to ensure that they are built around 
improving the current customer experience. Head of Customer Services to 
lead on development of work flow and rules for business and civic events 
in the public domain

Page 43



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 6 of 38

To develop an information report to include intelligence relating to 
customer contact for these services. The report to be presented to the City 
Centre Project Board on a three monthly basis to inform their work.

Objective 4 - Harnessing the value of social media for Councillors

1. Head of Communication to be tasked to either arrange appropriate social 
media training for Councillors or share published guidance on the subject. 
Priority should be given to supporting those Councillors who regularly use 
Facebook and Twitter as part of efforts to engage with the public or have a 
keen interest in building their social media presence. The group should be 
invited to set out proposals for encouraging all Councillors to register on 
Wolverhampton Twitter and Facebook for email information alerts.

2. The Head of Communication to prepare a revised current social 
networking guide. The guide to be shared with all Councillors and 
appropriate support offered. 

3. The Head of Communication to be invited to advise how the success of 
initiative in meeting its objectives can be assessed. The findings to be 
shared with the Councillor Development and Information Technology 
Advisory Group.

4. The Head of Communication to set up a community discussion forum 
similar to that developed by Dudley Council. The aim of the forum would 
be to provide a space to discuss local issues or future plans relating to the 
regeneration of the City or improving the current ‘offer’:

http://vvww.dudley.gov.uk/media/media-releases/august-
2013/community-forums your-chance-to-have-your-say/

http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-
network/2014ffeb/19/facebook  meeting-public-dudley-
council?CMP=new 1194

Page 44

http://vvww.dudley.gov.uk/media/media-releases/august-2013/community-forums%20your-chance-to-have-your-say/
http://vvww.dudley.gov.uk/media/media-releases/august-2013/community-forums%20your-chance-to-have-your-say/
http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 7 of 38

Summary of Report

Developing a joint marketing strategy and communication 
strategy for Wolverhampton

1. The Council has responded positively to criticisms about past delays in 
bringing forward major city centre regeneration schemes. There is 
strong evidence from developers to suggest that the new approach to 
developing the City Centre Prospectus is very much welcomed. The 
Review Group support efforts to actively involve representatives of the 
private sector in the process and also the pragmatic approach adopted 
about what can be realistically achieved. It is important that there all 
available resources are used efficiently to deliver an improved ‘offer’. 

2. The Review Group acknowledge the excellent work over many years of 
the Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration and Prosperity in 
driving forward the regeneration of the City and positively marketing the 
City and its ‘offer’. There is a concern about the breadth of the portfolio 
and consider that consideration should be given about how the role can 
be better supported. For example, in some situations delegating 
specific areas of work to other Councillors to provide extra resources 
needed to support the delivery of an improved ‘offer’, and hopefully a 
development opportunity to increase the pool of resources available. 

3. The evidence from witnesses stresses the importance of having a clear 
overall integrated marketing and communication strategies for 
Wolverhampton. The strategy should have objectives for the Council 
and local partners to work together with the objective of both changing 
the public view of the Council, as well as improving the reputation of 
Wolverhampton as a City and as a city centre to visit.  We accept that 
these strategies may be distinct but will only be effective if formed, 
evaluated and acted on together.

4. The Review Group recognise the need for a twin track strategy that 
tackles those specific problems which give visitors a poor first 
impression of the City and which also deliver an effective marketing 
and communication strategy. The Review Group are therefore very 
supportive of the proposed Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy.

5. The Council’s Constitution does not specifically detail where the 
responsibility and accountability is for the work being done to market 
Wolverhampton. It would help to have some clarity.

Page 45



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 8 of 38

Improving the Wolverhampton ‘offer’

6. The Review Group while acknowledging the importance of individual 
wards in contributing to  delivering an improved Wolverhampton 
business, shopping and visitor 'offer’, agree that  we need to get the 
city centre ‘offer’ right first, if Wolverhampton is to become a more 
desirable destination.

7. The quality and popularity of the City's cultural offer has been 
recognised nationally in terms of awards. Wolverhampton has a good 
leisure offer, which is very popular with residents.

8. It is important that there is an honest assessment about the quality of 
the current ‘offer’ and agreement about the priority areas for action, 
particularly in those areas considered to be weak. However, it is 
important to avoid raising expectations about what the City can 
realistically deliver given the resources available.

9. The overall impression from the evidence presented is that while 
Wolverhampton has many advantages such as good road and rail links 
and popular cultural and entertainment venues it needs a much 
stronger retail and business 'offer' if it is to compete successfully with 
neighbouring areas such as Telford and Walsall.

10.The Review Group conclude that unlike our near neighbours, 
Wolverhampton has not kept pace with others areas in delivering 
improvements to the current 'offer' and successfully marketing itself as 
a destination of choice. For example, the lack of a quality range of city 
centre hotels and family friendly restaurants is a common issue 
highlighted by witnesses in evidence to the review.

11.There is general consensus among witnesses that Wolverhampton has 
much greater potential to improve its current 'offer', compared to other 
areas across the Black Country. The findings of the Options for the 
future of Wolverhampton's culture and entertainment offer (July 
2013) report support this view and conclude that investment to upgrade 
key entertainment venues will lead to an improved daytime and night 
time offer and increased visitor numbers. The document makes clear 
that the issues facing Wolverhampton in trying to improve its 
entertainment and cultural 'offer' are not unique to the region. 

12.At the national level a recent report from Visit England highlighted 
changing trends in how people decide where to visit. The report refers 
to the example, of the increasing use by the public of social networking 
sites to review comments about a location before visiting and the 
growth of families taking multiple short breaks, rather than the 
traditional fortnight holiday break. Visit England also highlighted in their 
report that a major challenge to areas looking to grow their visitor 

Page 46



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 9 of 38

economy is the perceived lack of appeal beyond already established 
destinations. 

13.The Review Group welcome the progress of Wolverhampton’s Portas 
Pilot scheme in getting five previously vacant City centre premises 
filled and its contribution to improving the current 'offer'. The success of 
the Portas Pilot has helped to raise Wolverhampton's profile in the 
media and among national retailers. 

Managing and improving the reputation of Wolverhampton

14.The ongoing challenge for the Council and local partners in making the 
City centre a more attractive shopping destination, is how best to 
respond to increasing number of empty shops, the growth of charity 
shops  for example, which all add to the difficulty in giving visitors a  
good first impression and competing with neighbouring areas for 
visitors. It is important that the Council continues to actively support 
local entrepreneurs and businesses that could help Wolverhampton to 
offer a more diverse shopping experience which encourages more 
people to visit.

15.The friendliness and attitude of Wolverhampton residents is seen as a 
positive part of the ‘offer’ by many witnesses. The views of local people 
about the City are important because their feelings and experiences 
will help shape and inform the views of any intended target audience; 
particularly when published in local newspapers and on social media 
sites, such as Twitter and Facebook. 

16.The Review Group are concerned among witnesses suggesting that 
the City is not seen by the public as being a safe place to visit at a time 
when reported crime rates have fallen consistently. The Review Group, 
while accepting that it will take time to shift public views about this 
issue, agree that it is important that this message about the reality of 
risk of being a victim of crime is highlighted to the public wherever 
possible.

17.The Review Group conclude that there is a need to consider how to 
inform and in some situations challenge, public perceptions about the 
ability of the Council to tackle problems which give the City a poor first 
impression. The evidence from witnesses has highlighted that many of 
the problems are outside the direct control of the Council as they 
typically based on the commercial considerations of private sector 
businesses.

18.The lack of clarity about Wolverhampton's USP (unique selling point) is 
a concern because it is difficult to deliver a clear and consistent 
message to the intended target audience about what it can offer them. 
There is a need to separate efforts aimed at promoting and managing 
the reputation of the Council, from efforts to market Wolverhampton the 
City. 

Page 47



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 10 of 38

19.There is a concern among the Review Group about whether different 
groups and organisations involved in marketing and promoting 
Wolverhampton are all working towards an agreed shared vision. 

20.A clear message from witnesses to the review has been the 
importance of developing a clear marketing and communication 
strategy for Wolverhampton. The strategy should be focused on 
establishing a clear process for responding to the public criticisms of 
the City and detailed plans aimed at improving our reputation in the 
short and medium term. 

21.The Review Group understand that following a review that a new 
structure for marketing and communication work within the Council has 
been agreed. The Review Group have been reassured that internal 
processes will ensure an effective co-ordination of efforts aimed at 
selling Wolverhampton, improving the current ‘offer’ and giving visitors 
a good first impression of the City. It is important that the new working 
arrangements make clear who is responsible for delivering what and 
that there is appropriate oversight by Councillors to review progress.

22.The proposed Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy outlines different 
levels of involvement by people who can help promote Wolverhampton 
and its ‘offer’.  Local Councillors are ideally placed to be part of the 
group that can actively ‘champion’ and support efforts to market and 
promote Wolverhampton as a destination of choice. An important part 
of this process is attracting inward investment to help regenerate the 
City and support the Council’s effort to improve the appearance and 
make it a more attractive place for visitors. The Review Group welcome 
the work being done by the Council.

23.The success of the Council's effort to market Wolverhampton as a 
destination of choice will be highly dependent on developing the right 
mix of policies and programmes. However, any future success can be 
greatly affected by relationships with the media and how local issues 
are reported and comments on social networking sites.

24.Evidence from WV One and the City Marketing Team highlight the 
advantage of having the necessary level of funding to deliver an 
effective planned programme of promotional and marketing events 
throughout the year. Based on past experience this can generate 
financial returns much greater, than the original sums invested.

Page 48



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 11 of 38

Social media savvy Councillors

25.The Review Group recognise the power of social media sites such as 
Facebook and Twitter in providing the public with the opportunity to 
share their views on a range of topics. The growth of sites such as 
TripAdvisor.com has increasingly become an important source of 
information for businesses wanting increase market share and for the 
public looking information or to share their experiences with a wider 
audience. 

The Local Government Association and other organisations have 
produced useful guides to support Councillors, for example,Connected 
Councillors A guide to using social media to support local 
leadership. The guide discusses how social media can be used to create a 
space for community conversation.

26.The Review Group agree that there is a need for more Councillors to 
see the potential of social media and embrace the opportunity to 
engage with residents about issues of local interest or concern. 
Councillors need to consider registering with social media sites such as 
Wolverhampton Today, to ensure they can engage in debates on 
topical issues and also get alerts to keep them informed. 

27.A number of useful national guides have been produced to support this 
aim. In addition, the following link in a newspaper article argues why 
local authorities should embrace social networking sites such as 
Facebook and its potential benefits.

http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-
network/2014/feb/09/facebook-10-year-anniversary-tool-councils-
social-media#

This would address a concern that people don’t know what is 
happening in Wolverhampton and also help keep them updated about 
the progress of previously announced major regeneration projects. 

28.The Review Group are concerned that there is no effective challenge to 
comments posted on social media sites about Wolverhampton by the 
public, particularly in respect of the reasons for the delays in bringing 
forward major City centre regeneration projects. The negative 
comments in response to what are ‘good news’ stories on social media 
sites are a matter of concern to the Review Group. 

The City has to provide reasons for people to want to visit and spend 
their money in Wolverhampton. The Council and local stakeholders 
need to continue to work together to support this work.

Page 49

https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=7f3abdec-828b-4444-b5c1-5dd1657cb595&groupId=5939753
https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=7f3abdec-828b-4444-b5c1-5dd1657cb595&groupId=5939753
https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=7f3abdec-828b-4444-b5c1-5dd1657cb595&groupId=5939753
http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-network/2014/feb/09/facebook-10-year-anniversary-tool-councils-social-media
http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-network/2014/feb/09/facebook-10-year-anniversary-tool-councils-social-media
http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-network/2014/feb/09/facebook-10-year-anniversary-tool-councils-social-media


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 12 of 38

29.The success of the Wolverhampton - Into the Light - Enchanted 
City Weekend event held in October 2013 in attracting large numbers 
of families into the city centre demonstrates the ability of the Council 
and local partners to deliver programme at short notice, is very much 
welcomed.

The ‘Into the Light - Enchanted City’ event was a free event featuring a 
light display across landmark buildings in the City centre including 
Queens Square, St Peters Church, the University and Wolverhampton 
Art Gallery. The aim was to bring the City centre to life and encourage 
families, young people and community groups to enjoy a spectacular 
event of visual entertainment and home-grown performing arts talent. 
The event ended with a spectacular firework display.

The event was actively supported by local young people and 
businesses. Local businesses contributed funds and resources to 
support the event. The event itself generated lots of positive headlines 
about Wolverhampton and income for business. 

30.The Review Group consider that the City needs  to be willing to ‘grasp 
the nettle’ and occasionally take risks in marketing and promoting itself 
in order to make the changes needed to give visitors a good first 
impression of the City and its offer. 

31.The Review Group accept that the City faces a major task in tackling 
those issues that give visitors a poor first impression and in persuading 
critics that there is a commitment to deliver the desired improvements 
to the 'offer'. The responses from public opinion surveys suggest that 
more needs to done to explain the challenges in bringing forward major 
developments and provide regular updates on progress. 

Page 50



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 13 of 38

 Introduction

1.1.The overall purpose of the review has been twofold. Firstly, to find out 
what people think about the current Wolverhampton 'offer’ .Secondly, 
to review the work being done to improve the current offer and to 
positively market Wolverhampton as a destination of choice to visitors, 
shoppers, businesses, developers and students.

1.2.The term 'offer of a city' or 'offer' is a concept derived from destination 
marketing, particularly within the tourism industry. For the purpose of 
this review the term 'offer' is a general phrase which describes 
the range of economic, cultural and entertainment facilities on 
offer across the City to visitors, business investors and students.

1.3.The ‘offer’ itself can be broadly separated into the following areas - 
"visit offer", "business offer" and "shopping offer"

1.4.The Review Group started from position that while the City has many 
venues to be rightly proud of such as Wolverhampton Art Gallery and 
Wolverhampton Grand Theatre; there are aspects of the ‘offer’ that 
need to improve.

1.5.Ongoing development and improvements of  Wolverhampton's ‘offer’ 
is key to the Council's wider strategic efforts to market the City as 
great place to locate, shop, study, do business and visit. In the current 
economic climate, a strong ‘offer’ will not only help to achieve this aim, 
but also enable Wolverhampton to compete more effectively with 
neighbouring areas to attract shoppers and visitors.

1.6. It is clear from survey comments from members of the public who 
were asked to contribute evidence that many "Wulfrunians" care very 
much about what happens to the City. Furthermore, many are keen to 
see action being taken to regenerate the City centre and tackle 
problems which they have expressed concerns about.

1.7.Wolverhampton City Council has a key role in helping to both 
positively market the City as a destination of choice and also working 
effectively with local partners to make the necessary changes that can 
deliver an 'offer' that is both attractive and competitive.

1.8.Wolverhampton, along with other areas in the West Midlands region 
has been affected by changes in consumer spending patterns due to 
factors such as, the growth of internet shopping, rising levels of 
unemployment, and how national businesses manage and deliver their 
services at local levels. This development has led to an increasing 
focus on improving the quality of the shopping, cultural and 
entertainment `offer' as part of wider efforts to support the 
regeneration of the city and create jobs.

Page 51



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 14 of 38

1.9.The Review Group welcome the work being led by consultants to 
develop a Visitor Economy Strategy for Birmingham and the Black 
Country. The review is considering the strengths and weaknesses of 
the regional tourism offer, how it is managed, future market and 
opportunities for growing the visitor economy. The findings should be 
used to inform future plans for regenerating the City centre.

1.10. The issues facing city centres has been the subject of many 
national reviews such as the Government initiated 'Portas Review'. 
The review findings highlighted the importance of the city centre in 
helping to revive an area and also the range of factors that have 
contributed to its decline in some areas of the country.

1.11. The current challenging economic conditions and reductions in 
local authority spending have highlighted the need to ensure limited 
resources are used to maximum effect and make a real difference to 
tackling gaps in the current offer. The Review Group have taken a 
realistic view about the task facing Wolverhampton in wanting to 
deliver an improved 'offer.

1.12. Evidence was collected through interviews with subject experts, 
round table discussions, site visits and presentations of videos and 
other relevant information to answer specific questions, within the 
agreed terms of reference.

1.13. Witnesses were invited to share their views about the quality of 
the current ‘offer’, both good and bad. Witnesses were also 
encouraged to suggest practical suggestions of changes that could be 
made to help improve the current 'offer and give visitors a good first 
impression.

1.14. The Review Group has also sought the views of local people 
and Councillors to better understand the gaps in the current offer, and 
what changes they would like to see in the future, to enable 
Wolverhampton to compete more effectively with neighbouring areas.

1.15. The views of local people matter as it is clear from the quote 
below submitted in evidence to the review that the concerns 
highlighted are likely to be the same issues  that contribute to lower 
levels of satisfaction about the quality of the current ‘offer’, that 
visitors, students, shoppers and businesses are also likely to 
concerned about.

"What is apparent to me during the daily crossover is how little love 
Wolverhampton seems to have for its self. It's missing care and 
attention. Shops are boarded up; the ones that are open are payday 
loan companies, bookies, cheap clothes shops or charity shops. 
None of these establishments are what the majority of everyday 
people want and need."

Page 52



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 15 of 38

2. Findings

2.1.The findings has been organised around a number of broad themes. 

The themes reflect the views of witnesses and the Review Group alike 
about the City’s current ‘offer’, the main challenges to improving the 
offer, and suggestions about what needs to happen to give visitors a 
good first impression of the City and what it can ‘offer’.

2.2.First Impressions of the City

 The findings from the surveys such as the Residents Opinion 
Survey 2013, Options for the future of Wolverhampton’s 
culture report and Wolverhampton Town Centre – Operator 
Survey Findings present a generally positive picture of 
Wolverhampton as a place to live, shop and do business. However, 
the reports also highlight public criticisms about the perceived 
decline in the appearance of the city centre and gaps in the current 
‘offer’.

 In written evidence submitted to the review it was stated that the 
success of efforts to regenerate the city centre is dependent 
on a range of factors, many of which are not within the direct 
control of the Council, and are also often skewed by public 
perceptions and expectations of an area. These factors include the 
catchment area and employment, customer profile (influenced by 
income levels), car parking, sales, crime, tourism, vacancy rates.

 The evidence from witnesses presents a very consistent message 
of concern among the public about the apparent slow progress in 
bringing forward major regeneration projects and tackling those 
issues which gives a poor first impression of Wolverhampton.

 The following quotes are taken from public responses to a 
questionnaire inviting comments about their views of the City, what 
the City is doing well to improve the ‘offer’, but also areas where 
improvements are needed.

 "I think the shop "Shop in the Square" is the best shop that has 
opened in the town for a long time. There are such lovely 
handmade gifts that one is compelled to buy something as they 
are all so lovely.

With so many big stores closing down in Wolves, there needs to 
be an enticement to bring people back into the town and I think 
free car parking over two days should bring back old customers 
who tend to favour Merry Hill and Walsall."

Page 53

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Scrutiny%20Board/201401211800/Agenda/Item%209%20-%20Residents%20Opinion%20Survey.pdf
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Scrutiny%20Board/201401211800/Agenda/Item%209%20-%20Residents%20Opinion%20Survey.pdf


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 16 of 38

 "I love our city. I love Kings Street, the Chubb building and of 
course, St. Peters Church.

 "What is apparent to me during the daily crossover [the person 
commutes from Wolverhampton to Birmingham daily] is how 
little love Wolverhampton seems to have for its self. It's missing 
care and attention. Shops are boarded up; the ones that are 
open are payday loan companies, bookies, cheap clothes shops 
or charity shops. None of these establishments are what the 
majority of everyday people want and need."

 "Firstly, a positive. I think the AR/154 development (including the 
Vine Island works) and the proposed schemes outlined in the 
Stafford Road Corridor Area Action Plan send out a very clear 
message that Wolverhampton is a modern, innovative city which 
is well and truly open for business.

I have commuted to work in Birmingham by train for the past 9 
years. The sight that greets rail visitors as they pull into 
Wolverhampton coming from the South is just appalling. Looking 
out to your left is just derelict wasteland, including the old mill. 
When I have mates come to stay they never fail to comment on 
how bad it looks. In direct contract to '1, this sends out a 
message that this is a city in dire straits, on its knees.

The former Charles Clark building on Chapel Ash. What can I 
say that hasn't already been said before?"

 Wolverhampton train station is one of the main gateways into the 
City and there is agreement about the need for major 
refurbishment.

 A common theme highlighted by witnesses and in documentary 
evidence is the lack of family friendly or quality restaurants and 
entertainment venues in the City centre. The Review Group 
welcome the opening of the new restaurant near the train station  
and other planned developments in the area which will hopefully 
partly address complaints from visitors and present a much more 
attractive area to visitors.

 During an interview with the Editor of the Express and Star, there 
was concern that Wolverhampton looks a down market area, which 
does not offer a positive reason for people to either visit or to invest.

 The Review Group welcome the Express and Star's commitment to 
promoting the  City and support the idea of a " I  Wolverhampton" 
campaign and argue that  more needs to be done by the City to 
capitalise on the popularity of venues such as Dunstall Racecourse, 
the Greyhound Stadium and Wolverhampton Grand Theatre.

Page 54



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 17 of 38

 The  following groups, while not complete is intended to give an 
indication of the number of high profile individuals and or 
organisations involved in either marketing and or promoting 
Wolverhampton and its ‘offer’: 

 WV One
 WV One Marketing Group
 Business Champions
 Wolverhampton City Council:

 City Marketing Team 
 City Centre Project Board
 City Centre Operational Group
 Regeneration Advisory Group

 Partners in Progress
 City Centre Tasking Group
 High Street Champion
 Wolverhampton University

 There was some concern among the Review Group about the 
general level of knowledge about the work of the respective bodies, 
their remit, and the extent to which they are all working to the same 
objectives.  It is important that all key groups involved in marketing 
and or promoting Wolverhampton are presenting similar core 
messages about the quality of Wolverhampton’s ‘offer’ in their 
publicity and marketing material.

 The Review Group  consider there is a need for an explicit 
commitment from representatives of the organisations involved to 
work to an agreed vision, for example, as set out in the City Centre 
Prospectus:

"A vibrant, walkable, attractive, family-friendly city centre full 
of opportunity and potential. A city centre which is compact 
enough to be welcoming and accessible, but large enough to 
boast some of the UK's best retail, leisure and cultural 
facilities."

 The Editor of the Express and Star highlighted Telford as an 
example of a city that has developed a simple strapline message – 
'Safe City, Good Shopping', which makes clear its priority and the 
focus of its 'offer'. 

Page 55



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 18 of 38

Conclusions

 There are major challenges to efforts aimed at regenerating the City 
centre and improving the ‘offer’. The Review Group was very much 
aware that this is a massive topic which could not be properly 
covered sufficiently during such short review. However, the review 
has provided the opportunity for members of the group to consider 
the current situation and the work being done to improve the ‘offer’. 

 Wolverhampton City Council needs to reassure the public and other 
key groups that it is listening and responding to their concerns and 
that there is a plan to take the necessary action. 

 The work should separate those issues within the control of the 
Council to influence from those issues which are outside its control 
to avoid raising expectations about what can be realistically 
delivered given the current resources.

 The issue of crime and safety in the City centre has been 
highlighted as an issue of concern among the public. 
Wolverhampton needs to avoid sending out a message which may 
suggest that the City is not safe, particularly to visitors, shoppers 
and potential businesses looking to invest in the City.
 

 Information from a range of sources about what the public and the 
intended target audience thinks about Wolverhampton's current 
'offer' needs to be collected regularly and analysed to identify 
trends.

2.3. Improving the appearance of public realm

 For the purpose of this review the term ‘public realm’ is defined as 
any publicly owned streets, pathways, right of ways, parks, publicly 
accessible open spaces and any public and civic building and 
facilities. 

 The City Centre Prospectus document sets out a planned 
programme of work aimed at improving the physical appearance of 
the City centre to make it more attractive. The approach for 
developing plans to regenerate the City centre was described as 
being less prescriptive compared to previous plans and based on a 
phased approach to future developments.  

 Previous scrutiny reviews have commented on the lack of Grade A 
office standard buildings in the City centre and the gap between 
what we have and what we can offer.

Page 56



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 19 of 38

 The Review Group welcome current progress in securing an anchor 
tenant for the Mander Centre development and the work being done 
by the Council to improve the retail core and the plans for the 
Westside redevelopment.

 The Review Group have concerns about the impact on existing City  
centre businesses of two major planned shopping developments 
which are likely to draw footfall and spending away from  the 
established shopping and market areas. The concerns relate to the 
prospect of having two large supermarkets opening in the City 
centre, at a time when the Mander Centre is planning a major 
investment in the shopping centre and also on the longer term 
prospects for jobs among existing small businesses in the area.

 The plan for a creating Business Improvement Districts (BID) 
covering the City centre area is welcomed. (BIDs are partnerships 
in which businesses within a defined area elect to make a collective 
contribution to the development and improvement of their 
commercial district. These funds are then used solely to deliver 
approved business plans as agreed by the businesses.) If the BID 
plans are supported by the business community then it is 
anticipated that this will create a potential budget of £3 million (over 
five years) that could be used to fund approved City centre 
improvements. Virgin Trains supports the WV One bid to improve 
the city and efforts to promote the City as a visitor destination.

Conclusions

 The Review Group welcome planned work to improve the 
appearance of the City Centre.

 The Review Group welcome the work done to actively involve 
potential the developers during the drafting of the City Centre 
Prospectus because this gives confidence that all key partners are 
working to a shared vision. 

 The Review Group acknowledges criticism from the public in 
response to questionnaires about issues such as the overall look 
and feel of the City, which give a poor impression of 
Wolverhampton.

2.4.Wolverhampton’s cultural and entertainment offer 

 The City has a well-deserved regional and national reputation for 
the quality of its cultural and entertainment offer. Wolverhampton 
Grand Theatre, Dunstall Racecourse and Wolverhampton Civic 
Halls are often quoted as popular venues in public research 
surveys.

Page 57



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 20 of 38

 Many local venues such as Dunstall Racecourse, the Molineux 
Football Ground and other city centre venues are considered to 
offer world class events. The events hosted at City centre venues 
are televised across the world in different time zones which help to 
promote the city. In addition, Wolverhampton Civic Halls continues 
to attract major acts and host national events such as the 2014 
William Hill Grand Slam of Darts. 

 Despite some criticism from  witnesses about gaps in  
Wolverhampton’s cultural and entertainment ‘offer’ the 
achievements listed below, suggest that there are reasons for 
optimism about the future:  

 Wolverhampton Art Gallery, Bilston Craft Gallery and Bantock 
House Museum all achieved accreditation from Arts Council 
England.

 Wolverhampton Art Gallery’s Meet Me @ WAG conversation 
club for over-50s won a 2013 West Midlands Arts, Health and 
Wellbeing Award (Public Sector).

 Wolverhampton in Bloom achieved a Gold Award; Bilston in 
Bloom achieved a Gold Award.

 Bantock House Museum awarded the prestigious Sandford 
Award. The Sandford Award recognises excellence in education 
at heritage sites and museums. Wolverhampton Art Gallery was 
awarded the Sandford Award in 2011.

 Bantock House Museum was rated ‘excellent’ by VisitEngland 
(VisitEngland is the country’s national tourist board).

 Wolverhampton Art Gallery was rated a Certificate of Excellence 
2013 winner by TripAdvisor.com (TripAdvisor.com is a travel 
website providing directory information and reviews of travel-
related content. It also includes interactive travel forums)

 A painting from Wolverhampton Art Gallery, ‘Lord Volvo and his 
Estate’ (1982) by Humphrey Ocean was chosen to feature in Art 
Everywhere. (Art Everywhere was a national project which 
featured more than 50 works by British artists that was displayed 
on poster sites across the UK in August 2013.)

 Wolverhampton Art Gallery made a successful bid for £490,000 
from Arts Council England for its Black Country Echoes project. 
Wolverhampton Art Gallery was also awarded £67,000 from the 
Esmée Fairbairn Collections Fund. Bilston Craft Gallery received 
£14,000 from the Happy Museum Project.

Page 58



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 21 of 38

 Mark Blackstock, Head of Entertainment and Events and Rupert 
Knowlden, Commercial Manager, were presented with the 
award for Best Venue Teamwork - Theatre/Concert at the Live 
UK Music Business Awards.

 The lack of awareness among the members of the Review Group 
about such awards is a matter concern as Councillors will not have 
the necessary information which could use to promote the City’s 
‘offer’.

 The Wolverhampton City Treasurers project undertaken by Deb 
Shelley and Jo Rooney, first year fine-art students at the University 
of Wolverhampton. The project involved a public vote to choose the 
city’s favourite building. The results showed a great deal of public 
affection for the many of the great architectural buildings across 
Wolverhampton, which often go unnoticed by the public.

The final 10 ‘treasures’ along with other buildings of historical and 
architectural value were included in two self-guided Treasure Hunts. 
The guide, an adult version with cryptic clues and a children 
version, was launched as part of the Wolverhampton’s Heritage 
Open Days weekend in September 2013. Wolverhampton Art 
Gallery was voted Wolverhampton’s favourite City Treasure the 
other two finalists were St Peter’s Church and the Posada pub. 

 The Review Group consider that there is real opportunity to 
consider how to raise awareness about these events. 

 Deb and Jo also set up a unique art project capturing the hopes and 
wishes of people in Wolverhampton using a chalkboard along the 
length of Victoria Street bearing the statement “Before I die . . .” and 
people were encouraged to write down their thoughts. 

Page 59

https://www.facebook.com/pages/City-Treasures/101442596706091


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 22 of 38

The students were inspired by Candi Chang, a New Orleans artist, 
who turned the side of an abandoned house in her neighbourhood 
into a giant chalkboard.  The following You Tube link shows details 
about the Wolverhampton project  http://youtu.be/F7_xgw2sC9U

 The issues facing Wolverhampton in trying to improve its cultural 
and entertainment 'offer’ are not new. The combined effect of the 
factors below presents a major challenge to efforts aimed at 
improving the quality of the current daytime and night time 
entertainment 'offer’ in the City centre:

 falling visitor numbers

 concentration of entertainment, restaurants and leisure centres 
to Bentley Bridge away from the City centre

 the closure of previously popular nightclubs in the City centre 
and image of not being a 'family friendly' location

 the ease of travel to alternatives places such as Birmingham 
which has a stronger entertainment offer.

 the public perception that the City is not safe at night

 The Editor of Express and Star suggested that Councillors should 
be more involved in the work of the Grand Theatre given its 
significance and popularity among the public. The Grand Theatre is 
an important part of the City's night time offer and there was 
concern expressed about the granting of planning permission to 
businesses near the Theatre, which do not add to efforts to 
enhance the overall quality of the City’s cultural offer. 

 Wolverhampton City Council has been criticised by witnesses as 
not working in a co-ordinated way when dealing with enquires from 
promoters or event organisers wanting to host events in the City. A 
more facilitative approach across departments in enabling third 
party providers to deliver events is needed, particularly in relation to 
the outdoor public realm.

 All parts of the Council involved directly or indirectly in marketing or 
promoting the City need to work together more cohesively. 
Wolverhampton needs to learn from the experience of cities such 
as Liverpool and Glasgow; that are considered to be much more 
supportive and responsive to enquiries from promoters looking for 
locations to host events.

Page 60

http://youtu.be/F7_xgw2sC9U


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 23 of 38

 In evidence it was suggested that lack of a centralised ticketing 
system  for the cultural ‘offer’ which would allow different venues to 
sell tickets for other entertainment venues across the City was 
highlighted as a weakness.  Witnesses have highlighted benefits of 
making it as easy as possible for visitors to make use of 
increasingly sophisticated technology available to book tickets and 
find out information. This would require third party operators to 
collaborate with the Council.

 Mark Blackstock, Head of Entertainment and Events, 
Wolverhampton Civic Halls, in evidence to the review commented 
on how the Civic Halls ticket booking system allows the 
organisation to assess the effectiveness of its marketing work. 

 There is support from witnesses that limited the financial and 
physical resources need to focus on selling Wolverhampton’s ‘offer. 

Conclusions

 The Review Group acknowledge the success of the City in 
continuing to attract sponsors to host national sporting and 
entertainment events , many of which attract national coverage. 
There is a concern among the Review Group however, that the 
Council’s internal working practices need to be more supportive of 
efforts aimed at attracting new sponsored events to be held in the 
City or businesses to invest in the City.

 The use of social media sites to share views about issues will 
continue to grow. Therefore, there is a need for Councillors to be 
encouraged to engage with the public on social media sites on 
issues that give a poor first impression of the City and do not 
sufficiently promote the quality of its entertainment and cultural 
‘offer’.

 There is a concern that there is no agreed process to respond to 
negative public comments about the City, particularly on social 
media.

 The Review Group considers that regular briefings or email alerts 
about the City receiving either national awards or successful 
funding bids to Councillors would help to keep them informed. 

 Councillors and the public alike need to be made aware of sources 
of information about future events in the City and encouraged to join 
mailing lists.

 The Review Group conclude that any work aimed at encouraging 
people to stay in the City will need to be supported by better public 
transport provision after 10.30 pm and an improved night time 
'offer', which includes more family friendly venues.

Page 61



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 24 of 38

 The Review Group accept that given the scale of the financial 
challenges facing the Council that available resources are used to 
deliver specific objectives and are focused on areas considered to 
be a priority by the public.

 The Review Group supports the need for the Council and partners 
to set out a clear plan to develop the daytime and night-time offer. It 
has been suggested that this should be part of a five year plan to 
supports its future growth. This plan should include trying to 
encourage high quality food trade vendors that are more attractive 
to visitors and help to reinforce the brand and how the City's offer 
differs from other areas. The strategy should set out clear 
objectives against which progress can be assessed.

2.5.Wolverhampton’s shopping ‘offer’

 The evidence from witnesses shows that the current shopping 
‘offer’ is not strong enough to compete with the shopping 
experience offered from places such as Walsall, Merry Hill and 
Telford. Witnesses have commented that while other areas have 
improved, Wolverhampton’s ranking as a retail centre has fallen.

 In evidence it was reported that Wolverhampton’s biggest 
competitors are Merry Hill, Bentley Bridge and Telford. For a ‘day 
out’ or destination/experience younger shoppers will choose 
Birmingham and older shoppers Shrewsbury, Chester or Worcester. 
It was stated that in most cases this is because the balance is right 
between the ‘offer’, the cost (including parking) and convenience of 
getting there. 

 Furthermore, it was reported that the issue of parking costs is less 
of a concern, if people get what they want or have a good day out. 
Evidence from WV One has suggested that the level of parking 
charges is not necessarily the deciding factor in whether people 
decide to visit a city. 

 The level of car parking charges is an issue of public concern and 
the evidence from witnesses suggest that more work is needed to 
both explain how they are calculated and also challenge common 
misunderstandings about the role of Council in setting charges. The 
following points were highlighted in evidence by the WV One to the 
review.

 City Council parking rates in the Wolverhampton city centre 
have been reduced by 33% in the last 3 years.

 Many car parks have Safer Parking Awards, CCTV coverage 
and are in good repair. 

Page 62



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 25 of 38

 The City Council only controls around 40% of the car parks in 
the city centre. The level of charges set by NCP and Euro Car 
Parks are sometimes blamed on the Council.

 Parking is free in all City Council car parks outside the city 
centre. 

 The Council mainly operates pay and display car parks or bays 
in the city centre which do not allow people to extend ‘dwell 
time’.

 The success of Bentley Bridge Retail Park has been highlighted 
during evidence session as being a major contributory factor in the 
decline of the quality of the City centre shopping and entertainment 
‘offer’. 

 Witnesses have commented on the facilities at Bentley Bridge such 
as free parking, the range of restaurants, a cinema and leisure 
facilities which provide a much better overall shopping and leisure 
experience than that offered in the City centre.

 There is a view that while Wolverhampton has greater potential 
than neighbouring areas such as Walsall, it has been unsuccessful 
in bringing forward planned shopping redevelopments to improve its 
shopping offer. The plans detailed in the City Centre Prospectus are 
welcome, particularly the plans for a new store. 

 The following quote from WV One gives an indication of the 
comments from representatives of the local business community 
about the negative impact  on confidence levels caused by delays 
in delivering planned regeneration schemes 

“The [WV One] company does receive many comments that 
‘nothing is happening’ and this implies traders and the public 
have lost confidence in the speed at which change is taking 
place.  Whilst we ourselves know of the good work of many 
people and organisations, investment plans and improved 
services that message is perhaps not getting out fast enough.”

 In evidence it was reported that footfall levels in Wolverhampton is 
relatively high at around 26 million between the two main shopping 
centres and around 1 million in the evening economy. In evidence 
presented by WV One it was reported there is a potential untapped 
resource of potential shoppers and visitors across the region who 
choose to go to other areas that could, with an improved offer and 
encouragement, be persuaded to stay in Wolverhampton for their 
shopping and entertainment needs.

Page 63



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 26 of 38

 The number of empty units across the City centre is a very visible 
reminder of the scale of the challenge it faces. It was reported in 
evidence that 227 national retailers have gone into administration 
since 2007. Furthermore , it was reported in evidence that vacancy 
rates in the City centre remain well above the national and regional 
average at 17.8% (national 11.1%, regional 12.4% Source: 
Springboard), which is in ongoing concern due to its impact on 
quality and range of shops available.

 There is a commonly held view among businesses and the public 
that the Council is able to make changes to respond to the 
concerns about those factors which influence where shoppers will 
go. For example, businesses complain about the level of business 
rates and shop rental rates. The comments suggest that more 
needs to be done to explain both what the Council can do to create 
the conditions for growth, but also the limitations of what the 
Council can do in these circumstances. 

 The level of business rates is set nationally by Government.  A 
reduction in shop rental levels to attract new businesses may risk 
upsetting existing tenants and also have an impact on rental income 
levels for landlords, making it less attractive investment. 

 The information from the findings of the City Centre Annual 
Review and City Centre Health Check (2009), Wolverhampton 
Town Centre Operator Survey Findings (September 2013) 
Wolverhampton City Centre Customer Service Review 2013 - 
Synopsis all provide useful information that can help inform 
decisions about how limited resources should be used to improve 
the current shopping ‘offer’.

Conclusion

 Evidence from the surveys of shoppers and retailers can provide 
valuable information that can help inform the development of the 
activities aimed at marketing and promoting the City and also 
identifying those parts of the ‘offer’ which are being delivered.

Page 64



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 27 of 38

2.6.A Marketing Strategy Wolverhampton

 The definition of the term ‘City marketing’ (related to city branding) 
is the promotion of a city, or a district within it, with the aim of 
encouraging certain activities to take place there. It is used to alter 
the external perceptions of a city in order to make it more attractive 
to the intended target audience. As a result, this has led to 
competition between cities for inward investment and government 
funding to support their job regeneration and economic growth 
objectives.

 A significant feature of a city marketing plan could be the 
development of new landmark, or 'flagship', buildings and 
structures. For example, the I54 development.

 The Review Group consider that Wolverhampton does not have a 
sufficiently distinctive and clear unique selling point or USP or an 
agreed strapline which presents a clear and consistent message to 
the intended audience, across all publicity and marketing 
documents. This has added to the challenge in presenting a 
consistent and clear message about the City's offer and its 
strengths.

 The Review Group agree with importance of this issue and need to 
look at what can to do set Wolverhampton apart from neighbouring 
local towns and cities. Evidence has been submitted about previous 
discussions over many years about the issue of Wolverhampton's 
USP and the difficulties in reaching an agreement about what it 
should be.

 The Review Group support the establishment of the proposed 
Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy and its potential to support the 
delivery of the City Strategy Objectives 2011-2014. The Review 
Group are supportive of the three core elements of the strategy 
which could, if successful, address many of the issues about gaps 
in the current ‘offer’ highlighted as concerns during the review:

 Reputation Management – Improve the organisations 
reputation and standing of the Council to establish and reinforce 
its role as the strategic marketing lead for the City.

 Marketing Campaign – Adoption of a process that focusses on 
customer requirements and the ability of the city partners to 
deliver this requirement.

 Improve the Offer – a programme of activities in key areas that 
both visually enhance the City and also demonstrate a quality 
proposition.

Page 65



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 28 of 38

 The proposal to create a funding team as part of the 
Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy has a number of advantages. 
For example, it would involve the appointment of a "campaign 
leader", supported by a team with the necessary skills, who could 
present the right message in front of the decision makers.

The establishment of a funding team would send out a strong 
message that Wolverhampton has the support of key organisations 
behind any proposed bid.

 The Review Group support the ideas detailed in the draft 
Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy. In particular, the focus on 
creating a formal structure with representatives from all the key 
partners working to the same goal of positively marketing the city 
and bringing together individuals with the necessary skills and 
knowledge to draft and present bids for funding. 

 The Review Group are very supportive of the suggestion that there 
should  be a clear separation of efforts aimed at changing the public 
view of the Council, from those efforts aimed at improving the 
reputation of Wolverhampton. This approach would give a clear 
focus to future communication and marketing work.

 The Review Group recognise the important role of WV One in 
marketing the city centre. The WV One web site is regularly 
updated and it was reported that the site had 10,503 unique visits in 
October 2014. There is a healthy pattern of posting, reposting and 
tweeting between city centre businesses, WV One and 
Wolverhampton Today (City Council), which needs to be 
encouraged further.

 A review of publicity and marketing material produced by 
Wolverhampton Council and others suggest that there is a need for 
a stronger co-ordination of efforts to make clear what the City’s 
‘offer’ is to visitors, businesses and shoppers. 

 The Review Group recognise the importance of the work done by 
external bodies, such as Wolverhampton University in promoting 
the City, as part its efforts to attract students. The marketing 
department at Wolverhampton University has produced an 
impressive range of video material to both promote the benefits of 
studying at the University and also the City attractions.

Virtual tour site http://www2.wlv.ac.uk/international-virtual-open-day/ 
and a more general video used to promote the City 
http://www.wlv.ac.uk/default.aspx?page=21502

Page 66

http://www2.wlv.ac.uk/international-virtual-open-day/
http://www.wlv.ac.uk/default.aspx?page=21502


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 29 of 38

 Wolverhampton University undertake large scale surveys to assess 
student views .The Review Group consider a summary of the key 
findings should be shared with the Council and others to help 
determine the extent to which student expectations of the City are 
being matched by their actual experiences. The views of students 
who previously lived outside the City would provide information that 
could be a valuable resource for any future marketing or 
communication strategy aimed at responding to concerns about 
gaps in the Wolverhampton ‘offer’.

 The Review Group accept that while it is important to develop a 
single overarching marketing strategy for Wolverhampton, that it will 
take time to reach agreement with the different organisations 
involved.

 The Review Group are concerned that evidence from witnesses 
suggest that the current marketing and promotional strategy for 
Wolverhampton lacks a clear focus in getting people to 'think 
Wolverhampton' in terms of meeting their personal, social, 
entertainment or business needs. A further concern highlighted 
in the evidence there is a view that events that happen in the 
City are event-led rather than Wolverhampton-led. It is 
important to clear about who is doing what in terms of 
promoting Wolverhampton in areas outside the City.

 The Review Group acknowledge the successful marketing 
strategies of previous years used to promote events such as the 
visit to 10 Downing Street reception visit, and the Partners in 
Progress - Wolverhampton’s Famous Sons and Daughters event 
supported by Wolverhampton Council and the Express and Star. 

These, and other events, generated a lot of positive news headlines 
for Wolverhampton. It is important however that the necessary 
follow up work is done to ensure that initial contacts lead to 
increased investment into the City.

 The evidence from DC Leisure, WV One and the City Marketing 
team highlight the real benefits of having a budget to market and 
attract sponsored events to the City. 

 The Review Group acknowledge the important contribution of 
having dedicated funds in delivering successful marketing 
campaigns in the past. The Review Group, while acutely aware of 
the Council’s budget position, remain concerned about the level of 
funding available to support work of efforts to market the City.

Page 67



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 30 of 38

 The Review Group conclude that given the limited marketing 
resources available there is a need to ensure that all the key 
partners has the relevant information about Wolverhampton and are 
presenting a clear and consistent message through their own 
publicity and promotional material.

 The Review Group accept that competition for ‘customers’ whether 
they are visitors, shoppers or businesses is fierce given the current 
economic challenges. Wolverhampton needs to consider whether it 
has sufficient financial and physical resources to respond to the 
challenge to increase City centre footfall.

 WV One have argued that there is a need to ensure that the public 
get regular and up to date feedback on current and future projects 
aimed at improving the 'offer'. This could be achieved through 
news-letters and regular features in the news and trade press and 
via social networks. 

 The Review Group support the argument that the Council and other 
agents involved in marketing Wolverhampton communicate the 
offer in an honest way and do not rely on 'spin'. It is important that 
there is no difference between how Wolverhampton is being 
marketed or promoted and what the customers can expect to 
experience when they visit.

 The Review Group agree that it is important to learn from the 
experiences of other local authorities who have adopted similar city 
wide marketing strategy.

 The Review Group discussed the opportunities for Wolverhampton 
to secure funding either for marketing and promotional work or 
potential investment into the City. In particular, if there is an active 
programme to look for potential grant funding opportunities from 
national bodies or European bodies to support efforts to regenerate 
the City.

 The success in securing external funding for the 'Enchanted City' 
demonstrates that the proposed model detailed in the 
Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy can deliver a project that can 
be used to promote Wolverhampton's 'offer'.

 The Enchanted City attracted an estimated 8,000 to 10,000 people 
into the City centre over the weekend. The willingness of private 
sector businesses to support the project financially is a clear sign 
that this approach can make a real difference to improving the 
image of the City. The Review Group hope the event is repeated in 
the future and builds on the success. 

Page 68



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 31 of 38

 Birmingham and Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership have 
an important role in supporting and co-ordinating bids for potential 
funding opportunities across the region and in raising the profile of 
the area. The establishment of Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy 
would need to consider how it can support regional efforts to 
improve the current 'offer' and to co-ordinate funding bid 
applications.

 The Review Group consider that Councillors have an important role 
in helping to shape a marketing strategy for Wolverhampton and the 
subsequent action plan. The Wolverhampton Marketing Strategy 
document identifies the important role of ‘Ambassadors’. The 
Review Group consider that Councillors are ideally suited to the role 
to be ‘Ambassadors’ for the City.

 The Council has been criticised in some responses to the 
questionnaire that it is does appear to be 'joined up' as an 
organisation, when dealing with enquiries from promoters wanting 
to host events in the City. There is a need for more work to be done 
across the Council to ensure that our internal policies and 
procedures are properly co-ordinated and make the process as 
easy and straightforward as possible, for promoters looking to host 
events in the City. 

 The Review Group acknowledge that there is a need to keep the 
public informed about the progress of regeneration schemes. 
However, it also important that the Council is clear with the public in 
its communication that completion of major regeneration projects 
are very dependent on the financial and commercial considerations 
of private sector businesses.

Conclusions

 The Review Group accept that while it is important to develop a 
single overarching marketing strategy for Wolverhampton, that it will 
take time to reach agreement with the different organisations 
involved.

 There is a need to have a city wide marketing and communication 
strategy for Wolverhampton. The strategy should make a clear 
distinction between those activities aimed at managing and 
promoting the role of the Council, from those activities aimed at 
managing and promoting reputation of the City to give visitors a 
good first impression.

 The Review Group are concerned that evidence from witnesses 
suggest that the current marketing and promotional strategy for 
Wolverhampton lacks a clear focus.

Page 69



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 32 of 38

 It is not immediately apparent if there is a process to look for 
potential grant funding opportunities that could be used to improve 
the current offer and support efforts to positively market 
Wolverhampton. 

2.7.Communication Strategy

 The development of a communication protocol developed as part of 
the safer city campaign to be adopted by all partners Council, 
Police, Wolverhampton Homes, LNP’s and WVOne is very much 
welcomed.

 Mark Blackstock, Head of Entertainment and Events, 
Wolverhampton Civic Hall presented evidence highlighting 
concerns about the defensive response adopted by the Council 
when responding to negative press reports.

 The Review Group consider that there is need for the Council to 
adopt a more balanced approach when responding to negative 
news stories  to media stories. The Review Group accept that the 
Council needs to be able to respond, and where necessary 
robustly, to inaccurate press reports. However, due consideration 
should be given to the risk of any potential reputational damage to 
City. 

 The Review Group consider that care should be taken with 
campaigns which focus on raising public awareness about issues 
linked to crime and public safety, because there is a risk that such 
campaigns may give the impression that the City is not a safe 
place, particularly at night.  The Review Group accept that it is a 
difficult balance to achieve in offering public reassurance about the 
level of risk and the need to take necessary precautions to avoid 
being a victim of crime. 

Mark Blackstock,  Head of Entertainment and Events, at Wolves 
Civic in evidence gave the example of the annual Christmas ‘make 
it safe’ campaign which involves the use of large displays 
highlighting the risk of crime and the triage tent in the City centre.

 In evidence to the review, it was suggested that the Local 
Government Association Reputation Management would be useful 
tool to review and assess progress of efforts to change public 
perceptions about the Council and its success in efforts to positively 
market Wolverhampton.  It has been suggested that the use of this 
tool will give a clear focus and direction to Council’s future 
communications. It is important that any plan to manage and 
improve the reputation of the Council is part of any 
future marketing strategy for Wolverhampton.

Page 70



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 33 of 38

Conclusions

 The positive responses from partners who see the benefits of a 
communication protocol suggest that this can be successfully built 
upon as part of a wider strategy for the future.

 The Review Group agrees with the view that any communication 
material promoting Wolverhampton’s ‘offer’ strikes the right balance 
between being positive about the City, but still gives an accurate  
picture of what visitors are likely to see when they visit.

 The Review Group accept there is a difficulty in keeping residents 
and businesses regularly updated on the positive work that is 
happening across the City with regard to regeneration and 
economic development. The use of social networking sites provides 
an easy way to help people to keep informed of developments. 
Wolverhampton Council and other organisations have established 
Twitter and Facebook sites, which would allow people to register for 
information alerts.

 The Review Group accepts while a regular flow of news stories is 
important there is no guarantee that the media will print the stories 
submitted. As a result social media sites will become more 
important sources of information. For example, Wolverhampton 
Today has a following of over 31,000 likes and users can register 
for alerts. Councillors and the public should be encouraged to join 
the What's on Where events guide mailing list which gives 
information on events and entertainment in and around 
Wolverhampton. 

 In contrast, the Express and Star has one million unique visits in a 
month to its own web sites, which is expected to increase further in 
the future. The Review Group welcome the offer from the Editor of 
the Express and Star to work together/rather than in competition 
when it comes to disseminating news.

 The Review Group welcome the efforts of the Express and Star to 
present positive news stories about Wolverhampton and the work 
done to promote other entertainment venues through ticket offers. 

 The ongoing support of the local newspaper, particularly one with a 
significant online readership, should be a key part of important 
efforts to present a positive, while at the same time realistic, view of 
the City and what it can offer. The success of the efforts to market 
and promote Wolverhampton as a destination of choice will depend 
to some extent on building a better relationship with the local media.

Page 71

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/whatson


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 34 of 38

 The lessons from Derby City Council's relationship with the media 
and the Bondholder schemes are a good model that could be 
adopted by Wolverhampton. This work should be part of a wider 
strategy to look at possible external funding opportunities to deliver 
a programme of planned activities aimed at marketing the City.

2.8. Improving transport gateways and signage along major routes 
into the City 

 Wolverhampton’s road, rail and motorway transport links have been 
a key selling point in promotional material to attract potential 
investor, visitors and shoppers to the area. 

 The poor state of the signs at major routes into the City is a concern 
in that it does not give a positive impression to visitors. 

 Wolverhampton Train Station is an important part of efforts to 
regenerate the City and increasingly people are using the station to 
catch connecting trains, rather than travel to Birmingham. 

The following figures give basic details about the station:

 18 train movements an hour — three minutes between trains
 4.1 million passengers use the station annually
 52 staff at station
 The majority of staff are residents of Wolverhampton
 500 car park spaces
 The station is open from 5 am till 1 am
 The station is manned 24 hours a day
 There is a maintenance team based at the station

 The Review Group welcome the continued commitment from 
Wolverhampton Station to be involved in joint work aimed at 
improving the current service and in supporting the development of 
the Wolverhampton’s entertainment and cultural offer by providing 
extra services, when major events planned.

 The poor state of the station is a matter of concern because of the 
impression it gives users of the station and how this might affect 
visitor expectation of the City. The Review Group very welcome 
planned changes to improve the appearance of the station, better 
catering facilities and security, which all contribute to efforts to 
promote Wolverhampton's night time offer. 

 The prospect of a 7 per cent annual increase in Wolverhampton 
train passenger numbers is very much welcome and there is 
opportunity to encourage people to stay longer in the City, 
particularly those people who are waiting to catch connecting trains.

Page 72



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 35 of 38

 The Review Group accept the difficulties in making major changes 
to the station due to the physical layout which has meant that it is 
not possible to introduce automated ticketing barrier service, which 
would clearly provide a better customer service. 

Furthermore, any major work at the station would cause major 
disruption to the service, as it would require closing a number of 
platforms in order to do the necessary work. 

 The Review Group on a visit to the station noted the advertising 
signs promoting Birmingham City University rather than 
Wolverhampton University. The Review Group accepts that 
Wolverhampton University is free to choose how it uses it 
advertising budget. The review group hopes that if the opportunity 
arises in the future to bid for the advertising space that the 
University will reconsider its decision.

 The Review Group supports the work of the Interchange 
Development Steering Group and efforts to prepare a bid to fund a 
new railway station and car park refurbishment.

 The Review Group accepts that any a major refurbishment work will 
be dependent on the outcome of rail franchise bidding process and 
also the strict limitations on Virgin Trains to change the livery of the 
station due to restrictions in its agreement with Network Rail, who 
own the station.

 The Review Group welcomes the major signal work planned for 
August 2014 and progress in Wolverhampton Station becoming an 
interchange. 

 The Review Group are concerned about the lack of progress in 
resolving the future of Corn Hill Building by the owners, following 
the fire five years ago and the problems caused by the road 
closure. The road closure continues to create access problems to 
the station at peak times and regular travel disruption in 
surrounding roads. 

The issue creates a poor impression of station and does not allow 
Virgin Trains to offer the quality passenger experience.

 DC Leisure has expressed concerns about the traffic difficulties 
caused by the traffic flow arrangements experienced by visitors to 
the centre which needs to be improved.

Conclusions

 There is clear commitment from staff working at the station to 
provide a good customer experience despite the difficulties in 
making improvements. 

Page 73



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 36 of 38

The progress on Wolverhampton Interchange and upgrading of 
facilities which will provide a more efficient and reliable service is 
very much welcomed. Virgin Train staff clearly have pride in the 
work that they do and also want to deliver a better customer service 
experience to increasing the numbers of passengers using the 
station. The Review Group welcomes the efforts of Virgin Trains to 
provide additional services to support Wolverhampton’s night time 
economy.

 The Review Group welcomes the planned extension of the Midland 
Metro line which will bring benefits such as the seamless transfer of 
passengers between the train service and local transportation.

 Good transport rail and road links all contribute to efforts to attract 
more visitors to the City and in particular business investors and 
developers. An improvement in the appearance of the welcome 
signs at the main road gateways should be part of any future 
marketing or promotional strategy.

 While acknowledging the excellent commitment and dedication of 
the staff at Wolverhampton Train station to deliver an improved 
customer service, it is clear significant improvements to the station 
will need major financial investment into the facilities. At present this 
is unlikely. However, the appearance of the station contributes to 
the first impression that visitors have of the City and does help 
present an attractive destination for shoppers and visitors.

 The Review Group would welcome an urgent report which details a 
proposed timetable removing the scaffolding off the highway and 
the re-opening of the Horseley Fields route and discussions with the 
owners.

Page 74



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 37 of 38

2.9.   Wolverhampton’s Leisure Offer

The Review Group acknowledge the excellent work of DC Leisure in 
managing Wolverhampton Swimming & Fitness Centre on behalf of the 
Council.  The evidence below presented by DC Leisure shows major 
increases in activity levels and attendance at the centre and is very 
much welcomed:

Attendances

50,000   full year in old Facilities
650,000 in new facility

Fitness Membership

0 at Old Facilities
3,000 at New Swimming & Fitness Centre (1,500 pre-opening sales)

Turnover

£75,000 at old facilities
£2 million at new facility

Swimming

Weekly Swim lessons at old facility totalled 70 users.
Weekly Swim Lessons at new facility 2,500 

The Review Group welcome the very positive comments from DC 
Leisure about its experiences of working with the Council involved in 
the planning process. DC Leisure commented positively on the speed 
in concluding the PFI agreement and the approach taken to deliver a 
successful project.

The Review Group welcome the comment from DC Leisure that the 
City’s investment in the building the  Bert Williams Leisure Centre has 
ensured that the authority is well placed when compared with other 
local authorities when it comes to satisfying the ‘leisure offer’. 

DC Leisure did comment on feedback from centre users that getting to 
the building is difficult due to the ring road.

Page 75



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 38 of 38

 
Review Group Members

 Cllr Bateman (Chair)
 Cllr Bedi
 Cllr Inston
 Cllr Gwinnett
 Cllr John Rowley
 Cllr O’Neill 
 Cllr Wynne
 Cllr Simkins
 Cllr Sweetman

Witnesses

 David Whitehouse – Station Manager- Wolverhampton Train 
Station / Mandy Robinson, Commercial Finance Partner (Virgin 
Trains)

 Ashley Mason (Area Manager) ,D C Leisure Management Limited
 Steve Dyson, Dyson Media Ltd
 Keith Harrison, Editor, Wolverhampton Express and Star
 Ian Bustin, Consultant, Wolverhampton City Council
 Mark Blackstock, Head of Entertainment and Events, Wolves Civic
 Barbara Holt, City Marketing Manager, Wolverhampton City Council 
 Kim Gilmour, Operations Director, WV One
 Cllr Peter Bilson, Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration and 

Prosperity
 Deb Shelley and Jo Rooney, Wolverhampton City Treasurers

(Wolverhampton University)
 Simeon Chandra, President of the University of Wolverhampton 

Students’ Union /Jane Dunn, International Student Support Officer - 
Wolverhampton University 

Scrutiny Link Officer - Sue Handy, Head of Service Delivery 

Page 76



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 1 of 9

First Impressions of the City Scrutiny Review Recommendations – Executive Response

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

Developing a joint marketing strategy and communication strategy for Wolverhampton

1. The Review Group supports the 
proposed principles for the City 
Marketing Strategy and would 
welcome an early response from 
Cabinet Member for Economic 
Regeneration and Prosperity about 
how these will now be developed into 
a marketing strategy and plan that will 
be delivered by the council together 
with its partners. 

Accepted Cabinet Member 
for Economic 
Regeneration and 
Prosperity

October 2014

2. The Review Group was concerned 
about achieving a joined up approach 
to marketing and communication. The 
Strategic Director for Education and 
Enterprise should provide a report 
and presentation within three months 
on how this will be achieved. 

Accepted Strategic Director 
for Education and 
Enterprise

November 2014 

P
age 77



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 2 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

3. The Strategic Director of Education 
and Enterprise supported by the 
Head of Corporate Communications 
to produce a city marketing strategy 
and plan, including the identification 
and use of the main resources 
available across the Council to 
support its delivery.  The plan should 
also include identifying any the key 
gaps in resource which will form the 
basis of discussions with partners, 
stakeholders and external funders.

4. A report detailing progress in the 
delivery of the plan to be presented to 
Cabinet every six months thereafter.

Accepted . Strategic Director 
for Education and 
Enterprise

Strategic Director 
for Education and 
Enterprise

November 2014

Presentation of 
progress in 
delivering the 
plan: 
June and 
December 
Cabinet 
meetings

5. The Strategic Director of Education 
and Enterprise should incorporate  
activities being undertaken by key 
partners involved in either improving 
the "visit offer", "business offer" and 
the "shopping offer" and or Marketing 

Accepted Strategic Director 
for Education and 
Enterprise

Revised plan to 
include partner 
contributions: 
from June 2015 
onwards.

P
age 78



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 3 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

Wolverhampton, in a further iteration 
of the plan. This should include a 
review on whether current resources 
are sufficient to support any planned 
future marketing initiatives, events 
and campaigns developed from the 
strategy.

Improving the Wolverhampton ‘offer’

1. The Strategic Director of Education 
and Enterprise to be invited to 
include within the progress report at 
the start of each municipal year an 
analysis of any business and 
resident perception surveys, together 
with any other relevant information, 
together with any recommendations 
for improving the Wolverhampton 
offer and how they will be taken 
forward.

Accepted Strategic Director 
for Education and 
Enterprise

June 2015

2. The Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration and Prosperity, in 
collaboration with other Cabinet 
Members as appropriate, to be 
invited to update Cabinet six 
monthly, on progress to address 

Accepted Cabinet Member 
for Economic 
Regeneration and 
Prosperity and  
Cabinet Member 
for City Services

June 2015 

P
age 79



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 4 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

agreed actions to improve the 
Wolverhampton Offer, based on the 
business and resident perception 
surveys and other evidence provided 
by the Strategic Director for 
Education and Enterprise.

 

3. Consideration should be given to 
tasking the City Centre Member 
Advisory Group to scrutinise current 
work being done to improve the city 
centre `offer' and follow up issues 
highlighted during the review 
evidence sessions and report their 
findings to the appropriate scrutiny 
panel.

Accepted City Centre 
Member Advisory 
Group

In line with 
meeting cycle 
for the City 
Centre Member 
Advisory Group

4. The City Centre Member Advisory 
Group  should review and report on 
progress in delivering specific 
regeneration projects against an 
agreed timetable; particularly those 
projects where delays are likely to 
impact negatively on the reputation 
of the City as a destination of choice.

Accepted City Centre 
Member Advisory 
Group

In line with 
meeting cycle 
for the City 
Centre Member 
Advisory Group 

P
age 80



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 5 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

5. The importance of the City’s cultural 
‘offer’ to the City and the wider Black 
Country has been highlighted in the 
Black Country Strategic Economic 
Plan and also the draft Greater 
Birmingham Visitor Economy. 

6. The Strategic Director of Education 
and Enterprise to keep Cabinet 
updated on a quarterly basis on 
progress in securing external 
investments and the findings from 
the review.

Accepted The Strategic 
Director of 
Education and 
Enterprise

 December 
2014

 March 2015

Managing and improving the reputation of Wolverhampton

1. The Head of Policy and Head of 
Communication to be invited to 
present a report to Cabinet on the 
feasibility of Wolverhampton Council 
adopting the Building Trust: Action 
developed by the Local Government 
Association. The results should be 
published either six monthly or 
annually. The information should be 
used to inform the development of 
the any future communication and 
marketing plans for the City.

Accepted Head of Policy and 
Head of 
Communication

September 
2014

P
age 81



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 6 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

2. The Head of Policy and Head of 
Communication to be invited to 
consider revising Wolverhampton 
Residents' Opinion Survey to include 
specific questions about what people 
overall think about the City and 
views about the current ‘offer’. 

Accepted
When the next ROS 
is commissioned 
questions around 
the city will be 
considered for 
inclusion

Head of Policy and 
Head of 
Communication

November 2014

3. The Head of Policy to review the 
findings of the relevant public survey 
responses should be reviewed and 
used to inform future plans aimed at 
improving the current 'offer'. 

For example, the Express and Star – 
Your say survey and The National 
Student Survey findings from 
Wolverhampton University.

Accepted

Links to other public 
surveys will be 
included on the 
‘Wolverhampton in 
Profile’ local 
information site to 
use as evidence for 
future plans.

Head of Policy November 2014

4. The Head of Policy to present a 
summary of the findings annually to 
Scrutiny Board. The results should 
be separated into "visit offer", 
"business offer" and "shopping offer" 
and include details of specific action 
taken to improve the ‘offer’. 

Rejected I don’t think 
this should be 
the Head of 
Policy on the 
‘visitor offer’.  
Nor Scrutiny 
Board – 
perhaps 
Enterprise and 
Business 
Scrutiny Panel 

Head of Policy June 2015

P
age 82

http://www.wolverhamptoninprofile.org.uk/
http://www.wolverhamptoninprofile.org.uk/


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 7 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

5. Head of Customer Services to be 
consulted on marketing and 
communication plans for the City to 
ensure that they are built around 
improving the current customer 
experience. Head of Customer 
Services to lead on development of 
work flow and rules for business and 
civic events in the public domain.

6. To develop an information report to 
include intelligence relating to 
customer contact for these services. 
The report to be presented to the 
City Centre Project Board on a three 
monthly basis to inform their work.

Accepted 

. 

Head of Customer 
Services

December 2014

Harnessing the value of social media for Councillors 

1. Head of Communication to be tasked 
to either arrange appropriate social 
media training for Councillors or 
share published guidance on the 
subject. Priority should be given to 
supporting those Councillors who 
regularly use Facebook and Twitter 
as part of efforts to engage with the 

Accepted 

This issue has been 
put into the City 
Council’s corporate 
communication 
plan.

Head of 
Communication

September 
2014

P
age 83



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 8 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

public or have a keen interest in 
building their social media presence. 
The group should be invited to set 
out proposals for encouraging all 
Councillors to register on 
Wolverhampton Twitter and 
Facebook for email information 
alerts.

2. The Head of Communication to 
prepare a revised current social 
networking guide. The guide to be 
shared with all Councillors and 
appropriate support offered. 

3. The Head of Communication to be 
invited to advise how the success of 
initiative in meeting its objectives can 
be assessed. The findings to be 
shared with the Councillor 
Development and Information 
Technology Advisory Group.

Accepted -  links to 
recommendation 1 

Accepted - links to 
recommendation 1

Head of 
Communication

November 2014

4. The Head of Communication to set 
up a community discussion forum 
similar to that developed by Dudley 
Council. The aim of the forum would 

Accepted

This will be built into 
the corporate 

Head of 
Communication

December 2014

P
age 84



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2

Report Pages
Page 9 of 9

Recommendations to Cabinet Recommendation  
- accepted or 
rejected/comment

Reason for 
rejection 
(if 
appropriate)

Service Area 
/Lead Director/ 
Cabinet Member

Milestone date

be to provide a space to discuss 
local issues or future plans relating 
to the regeneration of the City or 
improving the current ‘offer’:

communications 
plans

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 1 of 4

Agenda Item No: 10 

Cabinet Meeting
10 September 2014

Report title Outcome of Called-in Item

Decision designation AMBER

Cabinet member with
lead responsibility

Cllr Andrew Johnson
Resources

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Keith Ireland

Originating service Democratic Support 

Accountable employee(s) Dereck Francis
Tel
Email

Democratic Support Officer, 
01902 555835
dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by 

Cabinet
Scrutiny Board

23 July 2014
31 July 2014

Recommendation(s) for noting:

The Cabinet is asked to note the decision of the Scrutiny Board on the called-in item.

Page 87



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 2 of 4

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To receive the decision of the Scrutiny Board on a called-in item in regard to the savings 
proposal for the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2015/16 Onwards.

2.0 Background

2.1 The enclosed schedule set out the decisions of the Scrutiny Board in respect of the 
called-in item relevant to the Cabinet.  Where appropriate, any relevant issues raised or 
comments made by the Board in respect of the call–in are set out in the schedule.

3.0 Equal opportunities/ financial/ environmental/ human resources/ corporate landlord 
implications

3.1 Of itself, this report has no implications for any of these policies.

Page 88



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 3 of 4

Cabinet/Cabinet panel 
meeting

Cabinet

Date 23 July 2014

Subject 10: Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2015/16 Onwards

Portfolio Resources

Called-in by Councillor Wendy Thompson
Date: 24 July 2014
Time: 9am

Method of call – in E-mail

Reason(s) for call – in To examine alternatives for generating the envisaged £870,000 
in savings arising from changes to this scheme, which do not 
directly impinge upon the most vulnerable members of the 
community.

Call – in received in 
democratic support

Date: 24 July 2014 
Time: 9.06am
Name of Democratic Support Officer: Dereck Francis
Telephone Number: (55)5835

Details of Cabinet 
Member and Director to 
whom call in referred

Councillor Andrew Johnson
Cabinet Member for Resources
Director for Delivery 
Date: 24 July 2014
Time: 9.45am

Decision of Cabinet 1. That the publication of a draft scheme in respect of working 
age claimants for consultation containing the following 
revisions be approved:
a. The basis on which support is calculated is revised from 

88% to 78% of gross council tax liability.
b. Within the draft scheme, households with the following 

characteristics will be protected and will continue to have 
their entitlement calculated on 88% of gross liability.
 where the claimant or their partner is severely disabled
 where there is a severely disabled child
 a single person under 25 years of age without 

dependents

2 That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for 
Resources, in consultation with the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits, to approve the documents to be issued for public 
consultation.

SCRUTINY BOARD – 31 JULY 2014 

CALLED- IN ITEM

Page 89



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 4 of 4

3 That the options for revisions to the local council tax support 
scheme for working age claimants that are needed in order 
to further offset the cut in government grant for funding the 
scheme be noted.

4. That it be noted that following the outcome of public 
consultation a further report would be submitted to Cabinet 
on 10 December 2014 to enable a final scheme to be 
recommended to Council on 28 January 2015.

Supplementary 
information

Proposed changes to the level of support are as a result of the 
cut in Government grant following the abolition of Council Tax 
Benefit.

Some councils passed the funding cut on through their local 
schemes in one go. The decision in Wolverhampton however 
was to close the funding gap in stages, allowing consideration of 
what was essential at each stage.

The proposal to further reduce support under the local scheme 
must be considered in the context of the already wide ranging 
and challenging programme in place to deliver savings of £123 
million by 2018/19. 

A report to Cabinet on 25 June set out that whilst significant 
savings had been approved through the 2014/15 budget 
development process, £59 million is left to find, of which £25 
million is required for 2015/16. The report identified savings 
totalling £18.1 million towards the target for 2015/16 leaving 
£6.9 million to find.

In considering changes to the scheme the issue of vulnerability 
was addressed through proposals to protect households where 
the claimant, their partner or their dependent child is severely 
disabled and single people aged under 25. Further background 
is in the Cabinet report at section 7.

The Cabinet decision was to publish a revised draft scheme for 
consultation. Information and feedback gathered during the 
consultation period would allow further consideration of the 
issue of vulnerability. When Cabinet makes final 
recommendations to Council it may decide to expand the scope 
and extent of protection although this will need to be balanced 
against affordability.

Scrutiny Board decision Decision Noted*
Item Referred Back to the Cabinet/Cabinet Panel*
Item Referred to Council*
(*please delete that which is inappropriate)

Page 90



Document is Restricted

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting (23 July 2014)
	5 Adoption of the Stafford Road Corridor and Bilston Corridor Area Action Plans
	6 Tettenhall and Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plans
	7 Reduction of Play Service Provision
	9 First Impressions of the City Scrutiny Review
	Appendix 1 -  Scrutiny Review Group Report
	Appendix 2 - Executive Response to the Scrutiny Review Recommendations

	10 Outcome of Called-in Item
	12 Proposals Regarding Children's Residential and Fostering Provision
	13 Bushbury Hill Estate Management Board Right to Transfer Proposal
	Appendix 1 - Offer Document
	Appendix 2 - Map
	Appendix 3 - Heads of Terms


